
The full agenda packet can be found on the Planning Board webpage at: keenenh.gov/planning-board. 

City of Keene Planning Board  

AGENDA - AMENDED

Monday, April 28, 2025 6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers 

A. AGENDA ITEMS

1) Call to Order – Roll Call

2) Minutes of Previous Meeting – March 24, 2025

3) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals

4) Extension Request

a) PB-2024-14 – Cottage Court Conditional Use Permit, Hillside Protection Conditional
Use Permit, & Major Site Plan – Timberlane Woods Development, 0 Drummer Rd –
Applicant Fieldstone Land Consultants, on behalf of owner Christopher Ferris,
requests a first extension to the deadline to satisfy the precedent conditions of
approval for the proposed Cottage Court Development consisting of 6 buildings and
36 units on the parcel at 0 Drummer Rd (TMP #515-015-000). The property is 13.1-ac
in size and is located in the Low Density District.

5) Public Hearings

a) PB-2025-06 – Guitard Homes Cottage Court Development – Cottage Court
Conditional Use Permit, Major Site Plan, & Surface Water Protection Conditional Use
Permit – 0 Court St – Applicant Fieldstone Land Consultants PLLC, on behalf of owner
Guitard Homes LLC, proposes a Cottage Court Development consisting of 29 single-
family units accessed by a private driveway on the undeveloped lot at 0 Court St (TMP
#228-016-000). A Surface Water Protection CUP is requested for impacts to the 30’
surface water buffer. Additionally, a waiver has been requested from Section 21.7.3.C
of the LDC related to light trespass. The parcel is 9.7-ac in size and is located in the
Low Density District.

6) Master Plan Update (KeeneMasterPlan.com)

7) Staff Updates

a) Notice of Council Action – Request for Annual Reports from Boards and Commissions
b) Frequency of Updates on Administrative Planning and Minor Site Plan Approvals
c) Potential Modifications to the Site Plan Review Thresholds

1 of 81



The full agenda packet can be found on the Planning Board webpage at: keenenh.gov/planning-board. 
 

 
8) New Business 
 
9) Upcoming Dates of Interest 

 Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – May 12th, 6:30 PM 
 Planning Board Steering Committee – May 13th, 12:00 PM 
 Planning Board Site Visit – May 21st, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed 
 Planning Board Meeting – May 27th, 6:30 PM 

 
10) MORE TIME ITEMS  

 
a) Training on Site Development Standards – Snow Storage, Landscaping, & Screening 

 
11) ADJOURNMENT 

2 of 81



DRAFT 

Page 1 of 25 
 

City of Keene 1 
New Hampshire 2 

 3 
 4 

PLANNING BOARD 5 
MEETING MINUTES 6 

 7 
Monday, March 24, 2025 6:30 PM Council Chambers, 
            City Hall  8 
Members Present: 
Harold Farrington, Chair 
Roberta Mastrogiovanni, Vice Chair  
Mayor Jay V. Kahn 
Armando Rangel 
Kenneth Kost 
Michael Hoefer, Alternate 
Stephon Mehu, Alternate 
 
Members Not Present:                                    
Councilor Michael Remy                           
Sarah Vezzani                                                        
Ryan Clancy                                                       
Randyn Markelon, Alternate                           
Tammy Adams, Alternate 
 
 
 

Staff Present: 
Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
Megan Fortson, Planner 
 

 9 
 10 

I) Call to Order 11 
 12 
Chair Farrington called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM and a roll call was taken. The Alternates 13 
were asked to join the Board as voting members. 14 
 15 
II) Minutes of Previous Meeting – February 24, 2025 16 

 17 
A motion was made by Mayor Kahn to approve the February 24, 2025 meeting minutes. The 18 
motion was seconded by Armando Rangel and was unanimously approved.  19 
 20 

III) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 21 
 22 
The Chair stated as a matter of practice, the Board will now issue a final vote on all conditionally 23 
approved plans after all of the “conditions precedent” have been met. This final vote will be the 24 
final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. He asked whether there were any 25 
applications tonight that are ready for a final vote. 26 

3 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 2 of 25 
 

 27 
Senior Planner, Mari Brunner, stated there is one application this evening that is ready for a final 28 
vote. 36 Elliott Street, which is a Cottage Court Conditional Use Permit application, is ready for 29 
a final vote. Ms. Brunner continued, stating that this application had two conditions precedent, 30 
which have been met. 31 
Those conditions included the owner signature appears on the plans, and Submittal of final 32 
copies of the plans. 33 
 34 
A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board issue final site plan 35 
approval for PB-2025-02. The motion was seconded by Armando Rangel and carried on a 36 
unanimous vote. 37 

 38 
IV) Public Hearing 39 

a) PB-2024-20 – Earth Excavation Permit Major Amendment & Hillside Protection 40 
Conditional Use Permit – 21 & 57 Route 9 – Applicant Granite Engineering LLC, on behalf of 41 
owner G2 Holdings LLC, proposes to expand the existing gravel pit located at 21 & 57 Route 9 42 
(TMP#s 215-007-000 & 215-008-000). A Hillside Protection CUP is requested for impacts to 43 
steep slopes. Waivers are requested from Section 25.3.1.D & Section 25.3.13 of the LDC related 44 
to the required 250’ surface water resource setback and the 5-ac excavation area maximum. The 45 
parcels are a combined ~109.1-ac in size and are located in the Rural District. 46 
 47 
 48 

A. Public Hearing 49 
Mr. Justin Daniel of Granite Engineering addressed the Board and began by introducing Brent 50 
Cole, also with Granite Engineering, Joel Banaszak, Geologist, Louis Remor of Capital Drilling 51 
and Blasting and Cody Gordon, Applicant with G2 Land Holdings. 52 
 53 
Mr. Daniel stated this property is located in Keene on Tax map 215, lot 7 and 8, and Sullivan on 54 
Map 5 Lots 46 and 46-1. He stated they will be going before the Town of Sullivan in April for 55 
the required Special Exception and Planning Board application for this project. 56 
He noted to Sheet 3, which represents the existing conditions plan. The current gravel operations 57 
received city approval in 2022. 58 
 59 
He noted to the material processing area, which is approximately seven acres in size. He 60 
indicated there is an existing access road off Route 9 with Otterbrook to the south. 61 
The other key feature to this area is the sediment retention basin that collects the storm water 62 
associated with this pit and infiltrates it into the ground. The applicant is proposing an 63 
amendment to his application to expand his operation to the north. 64 
 65 
The first phase would establish the operating area for the project. The area required to process 66 
and store the material is such a large size that it prohibits further excavation of the pit to what 67 
was approved. The approval back in 2022 included removing an additional 40 feet of material 68 
from this area. 69 
 70 
 71 

4 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 3 of 25 
 

Mr. Daniel went on to say this project either has Periods or Phases – this one would have eight. 72 
The pit areas will be accessed by the existing Hall Road where the operations area is located and 73 
continue into Sullivan. 74 
 75 
Mr. Daniel stated the Periods or Phases are proposed as follows: 76 
Period One will be when excavation begins just north of the operation material processing area. 77 
Period Two would be just north of this area. 78 
Period Three and Four (reason for three and four) is because a portion of it crosses into Sullivan. 79 
Period Five, Six and Seven are the northern portions which cross over into the Sullivan town 80 
line.  81 
Period Eight is the final phase of the project. Once all phases are completed and reclaimed, 82 
Period Eight will occur. Operations will be moved off site and the remaining amount of material 83 
will be excavated - this was permitted in 2022. 84 
 85 
He noted the large infiltration basin on the site and stated it will capture stormwater associated 86 
with the gravel pit.  87 
 88 
Sheet 17 (page 134 of the packet): Reclamation being proposed. 89 
 90 
Six months prior to the completion of a period, a permit renewal application will be submitted to 91 
the City prior to moving to the next phase. This will give the City time to review the period 92 
completeness and to verify reclamation has been completed. 93 
 94 
Mr. Daniel addressed Permits and Waivers next. The application requires a conditional use 95 
permit and two waivers, which are the same waivers that were approved for the project in 2022. 96 
 97 
The Conditional Use Permit is being requested for excavation on 15% to 25% slopes. 98 
 99 
The first waiver is a Surface Water Resource Setback Waiver for excavation within 250 feet of a 100 
wetland. Mr. Daniel noted there are wetlands on the left and the right of the site. There is a 101 
requirement not to get any closer than 75 feet to the wetland. 102 
 103 
The second waiver is for the maximum excavation area being no greater than five acres. The 104 
applicant has calculated the maximum excavation to be 12 acres. Once the phase is completed, 105 
the area will be restored and reclaimed before excavation would be done to the next area. 106 
Mr. Daniel stated this project will require an ACS Alteration of Terrain Permit, which has been 107 
submitted for review. This project proposes no wetland impacts. He noted there was a site visit 108 
conducted recently with City Staff, and with the Planning Board and Conservation Commission 109 
members. 110 
This concluded the applicant’s comments. 111 
 112 
Staff comments were next. 113 
Ms. Brunner addressed the Board and indicated that the applicant has requested a continuation of 114 
this application to the May Planning Board Meeting, since the City’s consultant, Fieldstone Land 115 
Consultants, is asking for a few items of clarification. 116 
 117 

5 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 4 of 25 
 

She indicated that the Conservation Commission suggested recommendations for this 118 
application. The Commission voted unanimously to recommend that the Planning Board 119 
consider the following with respect to this application: 120 
 121 
The first item was greater consideration of a 100-year storm or flood event. This application uses 122 
the 50-year storm event, and the commission recommends using 100-year storm event. The 123 
Commission’s reasoning is because storm events are increasing in intensity in general. 124 
 125 
They also recommend further study into potential offsite impacts of acid mine drainage. One of 126 
the members of the commission is a geologist, a retired Keene State College professor, who was 127 
concerned about the material that is being mined from the site and how it would be used once it 128 
is sold.  129 
 130 
The commission also discussed the potential increase in the forest buffer with Route 9 and 131 
included native pollinator friendly plantings and considering trees to address the view from 132 
Route 9 in the remediation plan. 133 
 134 
Ms. Brunner stated she wasn’t sure if site impacts of acid mine drainage were within the Board’s 135 
purview. The Board’s purview is limited to site impacts. However, this was something that the 136 
Conservation Commission noted in their motion. 137 
 138 
The Chair asked if the applicant had seen the Conservation Commission’s recommendations and 139 
Fieldstone Land Consultants’ report. Mr. Brent Cole answered in the affirmative. He added 140 
another reason for asking for a continuation is because the City has very strict regulations 141 
regarding acid mine drainage. He stated this is something they take very seriously and will be 142 
working with Fieldstone on this issue.  143 
 144 
Mayor Kahn asked that traffic concerns be addressed with proper signage. Ms. Fortson stated 145 
that her understanding is that the applicant is not proposing any increase in traffic as part of this 146 
application, and they have resubmitted their initial traffic analysis from when the project was 147 
first approved in 2022. Although they are expanding the gravel pit, the applicant agreed that they 148 
were not proposing an increase in traffic. The Mayor encouraged more traffic signage at this 149 
location. 150 
 151 
Ms. Fortson stated the application was recently reviewed by the City Engineer who indicated on 152 
March 12th that he had concerns about the existing paved access road radii. The City Engineer 153 
stated the access road radii need to be increased in order to support the traffic loading and 154 
associated turning movements into and out of the site. The existing turning movements extend 155 
outside of the pavement and will exacerbate the deterioration of the road. She stated this is 156 
something the applicant is working to address as part of the updated materials that need to be 157 
submitted. 158 
 159 
The Chair asked for public comment next.  160 
Mr. Bill Manley, abutter to this property, addressed the Board. He noted this hillside is referred 161 
to as the Nims Hill. He stated this proposal is a very serious regional activity, which would have 162 
negative consequences to the community and residents—especially those living within half 163 

6 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 5 of 25 
 

mile—and permanent consequences to Nims Hill. Negative impacts to residents include the 164 
following: vibration, sound, dust, and possible contamination of wells. He stated his project will 165 
obliterate the southern knoll of Nims Hill, which would further impact the aesthetic nature of this 166 
area.  167 
 168 
He went on to say that the potential for acid mine drainage is real. As described in the acid mine 169 
drainage report, the independent Fieldstone assessment and the Southwest Regional Planning 170 
Commission's letter. In addition, as was noted in the Conservation Commission meeting of 17 171 
March, the potential exists for gravel to be generated by the planned expansion to literally 172 
become a carrier of acid drainage/heavy metals to the users of that gravel. 173 
 174 
Mr. Manley went on to say that this is a 13-year project. A proposed blasting plan for the 175 
duration of the project has not been provided. Potentially impacted residents have no way of 176 
knowing how often, or to what extent, blasting will occur. This project is largely unknown to the 177 
immediate and greater community. He felt residents should be notified of the duration of this 178 
project, its adverse impact and given a chance to express their concern. 179 
 180 
He added G2 Holdings has undertaken excavation in Keene and Sullivan without permitting, and 181 
there is one complaint outstanding with the Department of Environmental Services. In addition, 182 
at the Conservation Committee meeting, Granite Engineering asserted that it is impossible to see 183 
the G2 quarry activities from Route 9. Mr. Manley noted to the view he had submitted from 184 
google maps, which shows the view currently with a 50-foot cliff and felt it would be drastically 185 
more with the 300-foot cliff.  186 
 187 
In closing, Mr. Manley stated his recommendation would be pre-planning projects, and that a 188 
visualization of the final project should be provided. He also recommended an animated drive 189 
through of the view shed, starting at Sullivan County store to the entrance of the Army Corps of 190 
Engineer Otterbrook Lake, be constructed to visualize both the current impact that could be seen 191 
since the applicant is in denial of this and the impact should this plan be approved. 192 
 193 
Second, a proposed blasting plan for the duration of the project should be submitted. 194 
 195 
Third, to increase awareness and transparency, this project should appear at a minimum in the 196 
Sentinel and all residents within the potentially impacted half mile radius should be contacted as 197 
soon as possible, advising them of the potentially negative consequences of this project along 198 
with the proposed blasting plan. 199 
 200 
Fourth, given that the potential exists for acid mine drainage and subsequent leaching of heavy 201 
metals into water supplies, this potential should be further studied by independent third parties 202 
prior to approval. In addition, the possibility of material extracted from the site being a carrier of 203 
acid and heavy metals should also be investigated. 204 
 205 
Ms. Heidi Bukowski of 58 Eaton Hill Gilson Road addressed the Board and stated that she lives 206 
above the excavation pit of the Gorren Brothers in Gilsum. She stated she is 207 
unhappy with what has happened to their road. She stated she knows of a neighbor whose  208 

7 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 6 of 25 
 

concrete floor has cracked because of this work, and they were never advised when blasting was 209 
going to occur. She knows of animals and people being shocked by this noise. This is a big 210 
change to the environment. Ms. Bukowski stated if anyone is interested in this work, they should 211 
visit Gilsum to see the impact this blasting has had on that area. 212 
 213 
Mr. Cole asked for permission to address the concerns that were raised. Mr. Cole noted to 214 
snapshots provided to the Board on Route 3 traveling 55 miles an hour – he agreed the site can 215 
be seen but did not believe the ledge is unsightly and felt this is a common visual in New 216 
Hampshire. He explained this is how rock is extracted to construct roads. He added that a 217 
majority of the project is hidden from most of the view. He explained the reason for each phase, 218 
or period, is to give the City an opportunity to review that period before it closes. He indicated a 219 
bond would be posted and reclamation would occur before they go to the next phase; 220 
additionally,  the City would need to be comfortable with the phase moving on. Mr. Cole stated 221 
there is a lot of Staff and Board oversight through the entire process. He added, similarly, in 222 
Gilsum there were notifications that were sent out according to the blasting schedule, which is 223 
state law. There was well monitoring and testing that happened–this is a very well-regulated 224 
industry from multiple facets. If there is more that the City wants to implement, the applicant 225 
will certainly be working with the planning board and staff. 226 
 227 
He went on to say there are no 300-foot cliffs, as was mentioned, there are 50-foot segments. He 228 
noted Gilsum is a pit that was approved by DES and the town. 229 
 230 
With no further comment, the Chairman closed the public hearing. 231 
 232 
C. Board Discussion and Action 233 
A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board continue PB-2024-20 to 234 
the May 27, 2025 Planning Board meeting at 6:30 pm in the City Hall 2nd floor Council 235 
Chambers. The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn and was unanimously approved.  236 
 237 
V) Boundary Line Adjustment  238 
 239 
a) PB-2025-05 – Cedarcrest and Monadnock View Cemetery - BLA – 521 Park Ave & 91 240 
Maple Ave – Applicant ReVision Energy, on behalf of owners Cedarcrest and the City of 241 
Keene, proposes a lot line adjustment that would transfer ~1.7-ac of land from the ~46-ac parcel 242 
located at 521 Park Ave (TMP #227-027-000) to the ~5-ac parcel located at 91 Maple Ave (TMP 243 
#227-018-000). The Cedarcrest site is located in the Low Density District and the cemetery is 244 
located in the Conservation District. 245 
 246 
   b. PB-2025-04 – Cedarcrest & Monadnock View Cemetery – Major Site Plan & Solar  247 
Energy System Conditional Use Permit – 521 Park Ave & 91 Maple Ave – Applicant 248 
ReVision Energy, Inc. on behalf of owners Cedarcrest, Inc. and the City of Keene, proposes to 249 
install a medium-scale solar energy system on ~1.7-ac of undeveloped land located at 521 Park 250 
Ave (TMP #227-027-000) to provide power to the Cedarcrest facility located at 91 Maple Ave 251 
(TMP #227-018-000). The City property is ~46-ac in size and is located in the Conservation 252 
District, and the Cedarcrest property is ~5-ac in size and is located in the Low Density District. 253 
 254 

8 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 7 of 25 
 

 255 
A. Board Determination of Completeness 256 
For the Boundary Line Adjustment (PB-2025-05), Megan Fortson, Planner, stated the applicant 257 
has requested exemptions from submitting all technical reports as well as a plan showing the 258 
metes and bounds for all parcels. After reviewing each request, Planning Staff have made the 259 
preliminary determination that granting the requested exemptions would have no bearing on the 260 
merits of the application and recommend that the Board accept the application as complete. 261 
 262 
A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Board accept PB-2025-05 as complete. 263 
The motion was seconded by Armando Rangel and was unanimously approved. 264 
 265 
For the Site Plan and Conditional Use Permit (PB-2025-04), Ms. Fortson stated the applicant has 266 
requested exemptions from submitting a plan showing grading/limits of clearing, a lighting plan, 267 
a decommissioning plan, traffic analysis, soil analysis, historic evaluation, screening analysis, 268 
and architectural and visual appearance analysis. After reviewing each request, planning staff 269 
have made the preliminary determination that granting the requested exemptions would have no 270 
bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the Board accept the application as 271 
complete. 272 
 273 
A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Board accept PB-2025-05 as complete. 274 
The motion was seconded by Armando Rangel and was unanimously approved. 275 
 276 
B. Public Hearing 277 
Ms. Megan Ulin, Solar Project Developer with ReVision Energy, addressed the Board.  278 
She stated her company has been in business for over 20 years and has been very fortunate to 279 
work with the City of Keene in a number of different capacities through municipal projects and 280 
commercial and residential projects. 281 
 282 
Ms. Ulin introduced Russ Huntley of Huntley Survey and Design, who was also present, as well 283 
as representatives from Cedarcrest, Jim Yannizze and Bethany Leclaire, and representatives from 284 
the city. 285 
 286 
She stated for the past year or so, ReVision Energy has been working with Cedarcrest and the 287 
city to develop a project that would offset Cedarcrest’s electricity use. This came from an 288 
agreement that ReVision Energy had with the City of Keene to explore solar development on 289 
several parcels of city owned land to further the city’s goal of reaching 100% renewable energy 290 
use by 2030.  291 
 292 
She noted Cedarcrest is a specialized medical and pediatric facility. They have a high electricity 293 
load that is required to provide critical services to the community. They do not have the 294 
opportunity, on their current parcel, to build a solar energy system of a size that would 295 
reasonably offset a significant portion of their electric load. For the roof-mounted system, they 296 
don't have a roof of the scale or size necessary to provide that opportunity. 297 
 298 
Ms. Ulin stated this opportunity is unique in that Cedarcrest directly abuts city property, and 299 
would have an opportunity to tie the system directly behind Cedarcrest’s meter, which provides 300 

9 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 8 of 25 
 

them a significant additional benefit. It reduces their demand and it allows their electricity load 301 
to be reduced directly by the solar, compared to just receiving a credit on their electricity bill. 302 
She pointed out that the City had to designate a portion of the Monadnock View Cemetery as a 303 
priority for solar development and without that direct connection to Cedarcrest, ReVision Energy 304 
would have been required to bring in a new three phase power line that is very costly and likely 305 
would not be supported by a system of this size. 306 
 307 
Ms. Ulin went on to say the reason they are pursuing a boundary line adjustment was to simplify 308 
site ownership and site control going forwards rather than a long-term lease. Cedarcrest will 309 
purchase necessary land from the city to install the array. Secondly, the City offers solar energy 310 
property tax exemptions for residents and businesses, which means that when you install a solar 311 
array, you are not taxed on that property. 312 
 313 
Ms. Ulin stated, if they had located this in the original location, it would have had a greater 314 
impact on the community gardens. The site now is at the northwest corner, further from visibility 315 
and meets the required 50-foot setbacks.  316 
 317 
The Boundary Line Adjustment affects 91 Maple Avenue and 521 Park Avenue, transferring 318 
1.69 acres in the conservation district from the City of Keene to Cedarcrest. The Cedarcrest 319 
parcel would increase from 5.01 acres to 6.7 acres and will contain land in the low density and 320 
conservation district. The City parcel decreases from 46 acres to 44.3 acres and remains fully 321 
within the conservation district. The access points to the property remain the same as the existing 322 
conditions. 323 
 324 
With respect to standards for Boundary Line Adjustment: 325 
20.2.1: Lots – The area of both adjusted lots will remain greater than 5 acres. The lots both meet 326 
the minimum requirements with 200-feet at the building line, 50-foot setbacks, no impact to the 327 
minimum road frontage for either parcel, and are not impacting any discontinued roads. 328 
 329 
20.2.2: Character of Land for Subdivision – The area proposed for the BLA is a flat field suitable 330 
for development. It is absent of hazardous conditions that would pose a danger to health and 331 
safety. 332 
 333 
20.2.3: Scattered and Premature Development –  It does not promote either of these conditions as 334 
the solar development is proposed directly adjacent to the existing facility which will benefit 335 
from the electricity produced and the array itself does not use City services. 336 
 337 
The applicant is not proposing significant landscape alterations in terms of tree line. 338 
 339 
No grading or significant clearing is being proposed.  340 
 341 
There is no impact on any scenic points, steep slopes, stone walls, or historic landmarks, or any 342 
primary or secondary conservation areas that are identified in section 20.3.4. 343 
 344 
Monumentation – 5/8-inch aluminum capped rebar will be set on the corners.  345 
 346 

10 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 9 of 25 
 

Flood Areas – Not Applicable 347 
 348 
Fire Protection and Water supply – The array does not require additional fire protection or water 349 
supply. However, there will be padlocks at the gates to provide access for the fire department of 350 
an event of emergency. 351 
 352 
City Water and Sewer – Project does not require City water or sewer. 353 
 354 
Ms. Ulin next addressed the site plan. She stated the proposed solar development is a 333.2 kw 355 
fixed tilt ground mounted solar array. This array produces around 364,900 kw hours of clean, 356 
renewable electricity per year, and will offset approximately 67% of Cedarcrest's existing 357 
electricity usage. The primary components of the system are the earth screws, which are the 358 
foundations. They are driven into the earth with relatively minimal disturbance. The rows of 359 
panels are oriented at 212° SW on the site location to optimize the system size within that area 360 
and to reduce shading. At their peak, the panels are approximately 13 feet tall, so they do meet 361 
the height requirements of the CUP. The inverters, transformers and electrical equipment are 362 
proposed to be located on the southern corner of the Cedarcrest building and will be screened 363 
with vinyl privacy fence. 364 
 365 
For the array itself, a six-foot agricultural fence is being proposed, which is comparable to what 366 
has been used at other sites and is considered a wildlife fence. The wildlife fence will allow 367 
small critters to pass through to make use of the area’s habitat. 368 
 369 
The applicant is proposing re-seeding the area with a conservation seed mix, which has 370 
pollinator benefits.  371 
 372 
There is also a proposal for a small swale along the north and southeast sides of the array, which 373 
is intended to ensure there is no off-site stormwater impacts. 374 
 375 
There will be warning signage installed on the outside of the fence because of its proximity to 376 
public lands. 377 
 378 
Construction is being proposed to occur this summer 2025 and will take three to four months to 379 
complete. 380 
 381 
Existing and Proposed Use – What is being proposed is a collaboration with the city to relocate 382 
the current community gardens to the southwest area and redevelop this area as solar energy 383 
system. 384 
 385 
Conditional Use Permit Criteria – This is considered a medium scale solar energy system by the 386 
land development code. It is approximately 3,233 square feet in size. 387 
 388 
Siding – 16.2.1 – The lot will be greater than five acres once the boundary line adjustment occurs 389 
and the solar footprint is under one acre. Hence, it meets the requirement for siding. 390 
 391 
Height – This system does meet the required height constraints and does not exceed 15 feet. 392 

11 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 10 of 25 
 

 393 
Lot coverage was calculated to include all ground-mounted components of the solar energy 394 
system, including the solar panels and the transformer. Solar land coverage would equal 15% and 395 
does not exceed 70%. 396 
 397 
Ms. Ulin stated elevation drawings with dimensions have been submitted. 398 
 399 
Visual Buffer 16.2.5 – Ms. Ulin stated they were before this Board last month for advice and 400 
comment on these criteria. This project location has been sided to reasonably minimize the view 401 
of the system from surrounding properties and public rights of way. It is located at the very rear 402 
northwest corner of the Monadnock View Cemetery, where there is very limited visibility from 403 
the public right of way. The existing planting buffer will remain. The City has submitted a letter 404 
in support of the existing screening. 405 
 406 
Noise and Glare – Inverters are rated up to 60 dba during daylight hours. They only operate 407 
during daylight hours, so there will not be any noise impacts during evening hours. Inverters 408 
meet the criteria in the land development code for noise. They are also over 50 feet from any 409 
property line and will be enclosed by vinyl privacy buffers. 410 
 411 
Security – Ms. Ulin stated there were some comments questioning the suitability of the fence to 412 
keep out trespassers. She indicated the fences they utilize are designed according to code 413 
requirements and there haven’t been any instances of trespass or vandalism. She noted those 414 
instances are relatively rare and felt the perimeter fence should be suitable. 415 
 416 
Utility Interconnection Requirements – Conduit will be buried, meeting the criteria to have 417 
underground lines. The decommissioning plan was not applicable for a medium scale solar array. 418 
 419 
Drainage Requirements – Applicant did submit an updated drainage plan. When the applicant 420 
originally designed the project in this area, there was a small corner on the northeast that does 421 
slope. The panels were just on the line of the New Hampshire DES threshold for sheet flow. Per 422 
comments from City Engineer to prevent off site impact, a shallow swale has been proposed on 423 
the northeast and southeast sides.  424 
 425 
Erosion Control – The system does not require a lot of grading or soil disturbance. There are 426 
wetlands on the City of Keene property. The wetlands are over 200 feet from the proposed 427 
development. There is a grinding berm being proposed along the side of the array, which faces 428 
the wetlands.  429 
 430 
The general sequence of this installation would require bringing in a crew that does the 431 
foundation installation. Array structure would be built and associated electrical components 432 
would be installed. The stormwater swale would be installed at the end of the project when the 433 
reseeding and revegetation is being done. 434 
 435 
Ms. Ulin stated they have been working with the Parks and Rec Department to discuss the 436 
coordination and timing of this installation so that it does not interrupt cemetery operations. 437 

12 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 11 of 25 
 

There is an agreement with the city to access using the cemetery entrance during construction. 438 
This concluded applicant’s presentation. 439 
 440 
Mr. Kost asked about the sound that comes out of the transformers and other electronic 441 
equipment. It states sound is minimal during the day and asked for clarification. Ms. Ulin stated 442 
the sound is like a hum. Mr. Kost asked whether people visiting the cemetery would hear the 443 
noise. Ms. Ulin answered in the negative as it is at a sufficient distance away and behind a vinyl 444 
fence. 445 
 446 
Chair Farrington asked whether the conduits would be entirely on the Cedarcrest property. Ms. 447 
Ulin answered in the affirmative and referred to the location on the map. 448 
 449 
Mr. Hoefer asked whether the undeveloped land without gardens on it located to the southwest 450 
was considered as an area for this array. Ms. Ulin stated this was the original location but 451 
because of the solar energy property tax exemption, Cedarcrest intends to purchase the land for 452 
the array, drawing that lot to meet the dimensional requirements is required by the Land 453 
Development Code and meeting the 50-foot setback would have a greater impact.  454 
 455 
Staff comments were next. 456 
 457 
Ms. Megan Fortson addressed the Board and stated this project contains three different types of 458 
applications. There is the boundary line adjustment for the transfer of 1.7 acres from the 46-acre 459 
cemetery city owned parcel to the currently 5-acre parcel owned by Cedarcrest. The two parcels 460 
are zoned differently. Cedarcrest is currently located within the low-density district and the 461 
cemetery parcel is located in the conservation district. Following the boundary line adjustment 462 
the portion transferred to Cedarcrest would be in a split zone. 463 
 464 
The applicant is proposing to construct a medium scale solar array consisting of 560 individual 465 
solar panels. The Zoning Board, at their March 3 meeting, granted a variance. As  466 
mentioned, a portion of the parcel to be developed is located in the conservation district. The 467 
conservation district does not allow for a ground mounted solar array as a primary use. 468 
Hence, they were granted a variance from the zoning board to allow for that use. Because this 469 
array is approximately 33,000 square feet in size, it is classified as a medium scale solar array, 470 
which requires the submittal of a Solar Conditional Use Permit application and a Major Site Plan 471 
application to document the site changes. 472 
 473 
Ms. Fortson went on to say that planning staff did not feel that either of these applications had 474 
the potential for regional impact.  475 
 476 
In regards to department comments. 477 
The Police Department had concerns about the six-foot tall agricultural fence that is proposed to 478 
be installed around the perimeter of the array. The only other staff comment received was from 479 
code enforcement, which is a reminder that a building permit is going to be required prior to the 480 
construction of the array. 481 
 482 
Ms. Forston next reviewed the CUP Standards and Site Development Standards.  483 

13 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 12 of 25 
 

 484 
Setbacks - Article 16 of the LDC - The proposed array is going to be set back exactly 50 feet 485 
from a few of the property lines and 52 feet from one of the other property lines. Because of this, 486 
planning staff is recommending that the Board include a subsequent condition of approval 487 
related to the flagging of this setback by a surveyor licensed in the State of New Hampshire to 488 
ensure that that setback is properly maintained during construction. 489 
 490 
Visual Buffer – The Board, at its prior meeting, had provided the applicant with the preliminary 491 
feedback that formal screening was necessary. The proposed conditions plan does show the 492 
existing tree line and other vegetated areas that are proposed to be maintained to provide 493 
screening. The Board would need to decide if the visual buffer and screening requirements have 494 
been met. 495 
 496 
Environmental Section -16.2.6 - The narrative states that the disturbed areas will be re-vegetated 497 
with the conservation grass mix, which is going to be suited to solar installations. Planning staff 498 
are recommending the submittal of security to cover the cost of that conservation seed mix. This 499 
standard appears to be met. 500 
 501 
Security – The Police Department did have concerns about the agricultural fencing, which has 502 
been proposed. The Board is going to need to make a determination as to whether or not this 503 
fence is sufficient. 504 
 505 
The staff report addressed the concerns raised by the City Engineer regarding the proposed 506 
stormwater measures. The applicant has indicated under the New Hampshire DES requirements, 507 
they have provided what is sufficient. Further review with the engineer indicated he was satisfied 508 
with what is being proposed. That standard has been met. 509 
 510 
Sediment and erosion control – The City Engineer was satisfied with what was being proposed 511 
as part of the sediment and erosion control measures. However, Staff recommend a security be 512 
included for this as well.  513 
 514 
Traffic and Access Management - The applicant has stated they have permission from the City of 515 
Keene to use the cemetery site to access the property during the course of construction. Staff 516 
would recommend a condition of approval indicating the applicant has this approval from the 517 
City. The Engineer also recommended a condition of approval related to the addition of this note 518 
on the plan because the access aisle that is going to be used on the cemetery property during the 519 
course of construction is currently gravel. It is going to need to be somewhat improved to be 520 
used. City engineering staff would like to be part of that review. process and make sure that it is 521 
modified properly. 522 
 523 
Ms. Fortson next reviewed the conditions of approval.  524 
 525 
The Mayor indicated there also needs to be some consideration regarding the fence.  526 
Ms. Brunner noted in consideration of the comments around the fence, the agricultural fence has 527 
less of a visual impact than some of the alternatives. A chain link fence would have a bigger 528 

14 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 13 of 25 
 

visual impact, so that would be the tradeoff. The Mayor stated he would like to hear from City 529 
Staff present tonight regarding what their preference is.  530 
 531 
Ms. Fortson noted the letters the Board has received from members of the public regarding the 532 
community gardens, and while this array would impact the community gardens, this is being 533 
handled independently from this proposal. The Board is reviewing the application based on the 534 
applicable regulations—subdivision standards, site development standards under Article 21 of 535 
the Land Development Code, and solar conditional use permit standards. While the City will 536 
receive testimony related to the community garden, this is not something that the Board is 537 
actually deliberating or providing feedback on during the course of this meeting.  538 
 539 
Mr. Kost asked whether the use of the cemetery access would be properly coordinated with 540 
internments. Ms. Fortson referred this question to Parks and Rec staff. 541 
 542 
Chair Farrington referred to the fence and stated the regulation says the maximum height of the 543 
fence can be 8 feet, but the applicant is recommending 6 feet. The Chair asked whether staff has 544 
any further insight as to the Police Department’s concern. Ms. Fortson stated their main concern 545 
is not necessarily the height of the fence but that they would probably prefer a chain link fencing 546 
with some barbed wire around the top.   547 
 548 
The Chair asked for public comment next. He asked that public comment be kept to three 549 
minutes.  550 
 551 
Mr. Peter Hansel of 61 Bradford Road addressed the Board next. Mr. Hansel stated he has been a 552 
member of the Energy and Climate Committee of the City of Keene and stated he is excited to 553 
see a solar project going forward. He stated one of the things the committee did was try to 554 
identify sites within the city that could take solar arrays, and Monadnock View Cemetery has 555 
been discussed as a potential site. As a City committee, they are devoted to implementing the 556 
City’s resolution to achieve 100% renewable energy for electricity by 2030. 557 
 558 
In identifying this site, they were under the impression there was plenty of room for a solar array 559 
that would not impact the community gardens.  He stated he was disappointed when he heard 560 
that that this had changed and, possibly, even more disappointed when he heard that this change 561 
had not been communicated with people in the community that were involved with the 562 
community garden. He felt the City needs to work hard to try to rectify this miscommunication 563 
or lack of coordination. He stated he is aware this hearing is about the solar array and not about 564 
the community garden but felt they were both inner interconnected.  Mr.  Hansel stated he 565 
wanted to make his view clear that if there was anything that we as a City can do to coordinate 566 
and rectify this problem – it should be done.  567 
 568 
The Chairman invited the Parks and Rec staff to address the Board. 569 
Andy Bohannon, Deputy City Manager, addressed the Board and stated that this project has been 570 
in the planning phase for a while. He stated this is the only cemetery land the City has left in the 571 
City. He noted it was realized the original location would be costly to be able to provide a direct 572 
path for solar to Cedarcrest and the original location would have impacted more of the 573 
community garden. This new location for the garden would provide more room for growth and 574 

15 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 14 of 25 
 

provide for irrigation possibilities. Mr. Bohannon also referred to a storage shed that was donated 575 
by Benson Wood, which would also be moved closer to the new garden location.  576 
 577 
He stated the City works the best it can with users of this garden and has been fairly successful 578 
for the past eight years with the help of Roland Russell and the Antioch University Community 579 
Garden program. Mr. Bohannon stated Staff wanted to make sure this project was going to be 580 
viable before communicating to the growers that there was not going to be a growing season this 581 
year. Staff did indicate to the gardeners last fall that was possibly not going to be the case this 582 
year – but nothing was certain last fall. 583 
 584 
With reference to the question related to the cemetery operations, Mr. Bohannon stated staff has 585 
been working very closely with ReVision Energy to understand the schedule. He stated the 586 
reason for the delay to July was because May and June were the heaviest burial time – the City 587 
averages about 16 burials during those months. The City gets 48-hour notice for burial request 588 
and will work with ReVision on those schedules to make sure construction is not happening 589 
during burial times.  590 
 591 
Cara Fiske-Hennessey, Parks and Recreation Director, stated since last month, they met with a 592 
group of community gardeners on two occasions as well as the Conservation Commission. She 593 
felt this proposal gives them the opportunity to relocate the garden, improve access, and increase 594 
opportunity for more people to participate.  595 
 596 
Ms. Fiske-Hennessey stated at the present time there are 17 gardeners, and 39 of the 61 plots are 597 
being used. The number of Keene resident plots are 35, non-Keene resident plots are 4, and 12 598 
are open plots. The current plot size is 19 by 25. What Staff is proposing moving forward is a 599 
combination of new opportunities. In the space that was originally planned for the solar array, 68 600 
new 20 x 20 plots, 24 new 10 x10 plots, which are being named kitchen plots, 9 4 x 8 raised beds 601 
and a 500 square foot pollinator garden. That total square footage equals 29,888 square feet and 602 
that is an improvement from the 61 plots that the city currently has in the  603 
existing community garden structure, which the total square footage is 28,975 square feet. 604 
 605 
Ms. Fiske-Hennessey stated they are also working with Cheshire Conservation District and 606 
Antioch University to try to identify alternate spaces for this year because staff understand that 607 
the communication was late in terms of starting seeds. Stonewall Farm and Cheshire Medical 608 
Center are possible options.  609 
 610 
Mr. Bohannon addressed the fence issue and stated a conservation fence is more open and allows 611 
wildlife to get through. An 8-foot-high chain link fence would be very noticeable, but would 612 
keep the wildlife out of the area. He stated this space is very minimally used except for gardeners 613 
and occasional staff. 614 
 615 
Mayor Kahn asked if Mr. Bohannon feels the eight feet were more satisfactory. Mr. Bohannon 616 
stated an eight-foot conservation fence would work but stated this is not a high traffic area and a 617 
six-foot fence could also work. He added he does not see much difference between a six- and 618 
eight-foot conservation fence, which also help with critter travel. Ms. Ulin stated a conservation 619 
fence has larger openings on the bottom and added they don’t typically install eight-foot fencing 620 

16 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 15 of 25 
 

around their arrays. She stated these arrays don’t pose public safety concerns when properly 621 
installed and encouraged a six foot fence. 622 
 623 
Mr. Rowland Russell of 77 High Street was the next speaker. He stated they commend 624 
Cedarcrest and the City for this solar array installation, and any effort to move away from fossil 625 
fuels should be commended. He stated the gardeners were not included in any of the meetings 626 
regarding this issue but did meet with Staff during the second week of March, even though these 627 
plans have been discussed for a long time. He stated they are disappointed in not having a voice 628 
in this decision until today.  629 
 630 
Mr. Russell stated in the 2010 Master Plan, it refers to solar arrays as being a step toward energy 631 
independence — then community gardens are a step toward food sovereignty and food security. 632 
He noted Cheshire County only produces 5% of its own food, which means community gardens 633 
and residential gardens are a resource that can help. He went on to say nationwide, community 634 
gardens produce about 40% of our fresh vegetables. In 1975, at the current location, there were 635 
200 plots reserved with a waiting list.  Keene’s community garden has been in existence for over 636 
50 years with significant improvements to irrigation and other infrastructure. Much has been 637 
done over the last five years, especially with thousands of dollars of external funding, donations, 638 
gardener contributions and in-kind support. Over $15,000 of which is from the Cheshire County 639 
Conservation District, to add infrastructure, tools etc.  640 
 641 
Mr. Russell pointed out that it is naive to think that a new garden could be built, infrastructure 642 
moved, soil health improved to the current state and pollinator habitat re-established without 643 
significant effort and expense on the part of the City. He explained you cannot simply transfer 644 
soil, for example, without disrupting the structure. 645 
 646 
In April 2024, the Zoning Board unanimously approved variances to permit the installation of a 647 
solar array on undeveloped land adjacent to the community garden. It was indicated at the 648 
October 21, 2024 Conservation Commission meeting that the project was moving forward at that 649 
location. He encouraged reconsideration of the present plans to relocate the garden and take a 650 
careful look at whether those 2024 plans might balance Cedarcrest’s needs with those of the 651 
gardens. Mr. Russell felt a complete cost benefit analysis should be completed to also include the 652 
garden. He asked whether all interested parties, including our gardeners, collaborate to come up 653 
with an alternative plan to bring before the Planning Board at a later date. He asked the Board to 654 
consider this option, as the gardeners were not aware of this change until it was brought to their 655 
attention by one of their supporters. 656 
 657 
Mr. Russell stated for the gardeners, gardening is not a hobby, it is a necessity. 658 
Lastly, in addition to food – Mr. Russell stated they foster community in the community garden. 659 
They have tremendous expertise and heart that is brought into this gardening community and 660 
asked that it be preserved, because it is something that has been accumulated over the years. 661 
 662 
Four-year-old Max addressed the Board with help from his mom. He talked about the seedlings 663 
he has grown and his disappointment with the closure of this garden. 664 
Max’s mom Michelle Nikiforakis indicated she has been disappointed with the decision made by 665 
the City. She talked about how special the garden was for her and her son. Max has learned a lot 666 

17 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 16 of 25 
 

about gardening. She indicated that they harvested hundreds of pounds of tomatoes, which they 667 
were also able to preserve. She indicated they have already purchased many different types of 668 
vegetables and perennials for the upcoming season. Last year they were told they did not have to 669 
till their garden patch, which meant some of the plants could be retained for the next year. She 670 
talked about the many plants she has grown over the years.  671 
 672 
She indicated she saved hundreds of dollars from being able to eat from their garden. 673 
 674 
Ms. Nikiforakis expressed her frustration with the City over the choice between solar and a 675 
community garden. She questioned how the money from the sale of the land will be used. 676 
 677 
Autumn Delacroix of 618 Court Street asked what the decibel count of the noise would be from 678 
the solar panels. She asked that the size of the array be shrunk to give room for others.  679 
 680 
Amy McIntire of 26 Barker Street was the next speaker. Ms. Barker stated much planning goes 681 
into gardening. She raised concern about not having a garden in 2025 and even in 2026. Starting 682 
a new garden in a new location does not seem realistic. She questioned what happens to the 683 
perennials and infrastructure that already exists, which is not something that has been addressed.  684 
Ms. McIntire pointed out that she did not believe gardeners who have more knowledge of what it 685 
takes to start a garden have been included in this new plan. 686 
 687 
Ms. Tammy Adams stated she understands the Board cannot address any of the gardening issues 688 
as they have to work within the Board’s purview, but this does not mean the Board cannot send a 689 
strong message to the City Council. She felt the Council needs to hear that the tenants that the 690 
City had an agreement with for the gardens have property still on that land. There needs to be 691 
some sort of accelerated plan for these individuals to get their plants off that lot before July 1st—692 
before the solar array construction begins. Ms. Adams stated she does not see a reason why the 693 
city cannot remove some of that rich worked topsoil and move it over to the adjacent plot. She 694 
felt this was a serious problem. Solar is great, but hungry people can’t eat solar—they can eat 695 
food from a garden plot. 696 
 697 
Ms. Toni Barker of 8 Russell Street stated she has been a gardener at the community gardens for 698 
about nine years. Ms. Baker stated that for the five years, they have produced over 600 pounds of 699 
cherry tomatoes, peas, green beans, potatoes, onions etc. for the Keene Community Kitchen. 700 
Without the garden this year, this would be a huge void the Kitchen is not going to be able to fill, 701 
especially in today’s economic times. Ms. Barker stated she feeds her family from this garden. 702 
She questioned how she is supposed to supplement her food source this year when they are just 703 
finding out that they are not going to have a garden. She asked the City to consider either moving 704 
it this year and being able to open it with the help from the gardeners or moving the solar panels 705 
back to where they were originally supposed be located.  706 
 707 
Ms. Sarah Harpster of 32 Old Walpole Road stated she worked at the Community Kitchen and 708 
saw produce that was coming in from this community garden. She stated this community garden 709 
has a special longevity and a social capital that some of the other projects weren't able to create 710 
and sustain. She stated she is concerned about the food security that people are going to 711 
experience going into this year. She stated the numbers at the Kitchen are going up by 40% over 712 

18 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 17 of 25 
 

2023, and they are seeing, day by day, news of slashed funding. Meanwhile, the price of food in 713 
the grocery store is 25% more than it was pre-pandemic. For people to lose the opportunity to 714 
garden in 2025 would be a tragedy, and it would also be sad for the Community Kitchen to lose 715 
some of the best produce that was put on their tables. 716 
 717 
Ms. Tia Zendauer of 287 Elm Street stated she too supports solar and Cedarcrest but does not 718 
want to be displaced from the community garden. She questioned if there was public notice or 719 
does there have to be public notice in the City of Keene that a piece of land was being sold.  720 
Was it open for bids? She felt the community garden could perhaps have purchased this land 721 
given the opportunity.  722 
 723 
Amanda Littleton of 20 Horseshoe Road Chesterfield addressed the Board next. Ms. Littleton 724 
stated she is here in the capacity as the Conservation District Manager for Cheshire County. She 725 
thanked the City for their support with community gardens. She stated, as Mr. Hansel suggested, 726 
it would be great to find a solution to retain the garden in its current location and place the solar 727 
array in an alternate location. She noted that the conservation district and many community 728 
partners who have linked arms with the Monadnock View Community Garden to support 729 
community self-reliance and food security and the wise use of natural resources in the City. Over 730 
the past two years, they have received two grants to work with the Monadnock View Community 731 
Garden and invested about $15,000 in garden infrastructure equipment and supplies. This 732 
includes a shed, water spigots garden tools, pollinator habitat, native plant hedgerow, and more. 733 
 734 
She added they are only one partner. These funds have been significantly leveraged by the 735 
investments of other partners, including Benson Wood, Antioch Community Garden 736 
Connections, the New England Grassroots Fund and other regional nurseries who have donated 737 
significant plants for this effort as well. These public and private community partners do see 738 
value in what is happening at the community garden and the individuals here have a deep 739 
passion. 740 
 741 
The priorities at the conservation district are about supporting soil health, efficient water 742 
management and wildlife habitat, including for native pollinators. The gardeners at the 743 
Monadnock View Community Garden have implemented these practices to demonstrate these 744 
priorities in action and invested much of their own time, money and effort into this as well. 745 
 746 
Ms. Little stated this site is a center for community education, not just for the gardeners who are 747 
involved, but also for the larger community. She thanked the City again for the decades of 748 
support, but encouraged the city to consider the impacts of the move on the gardeners and the 749 
financial investments that have been made. She felt it would take significant City resources to be 750 
able to create a new site as well as the time and resources of the gardeners. She stated she would 751 
like to encourage the city to collaborate with the gardeners on a solution and keep a transparent 752 
and respectful process moving forward to consider how we could work together to craft a new 753 
plan. 754 
 755 
Mr. David Morrell of Mechanic Street stated he would like to first express his frustration with 756 
the lack of transparency of this project. He stated one of the main stakeholders, the gardeners, 757 
were left out from the beginning and not consulted on this plan. As for the importance of the 758 

19 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 18 of 25 
 

community gardens, others have pointed out that the City’s goals regarding community gardens 759 
are clear and explicit throughout the master plans. Community gardens are important for food 760 
security as well as climate change, resilience and mitigation.  761 
 762 
Mr. Morrell stated he knows renewable energy is also included in the master plan, but trading 763 
farmland for solar panels is not a plan for sustainability. Solar panels belong on roofs, above 764 
parking lots. They don't belong on land more appropriate for growing food. In addition to the 765 
issues of food security and climate change, community gardens are an important part of a 766 
resilient city, especially during disasters. 767 
Community gardens help strengthen social interactions, relieve stress and build social capital that 768 
is needed when a disaster strikes. Planning and establishing community gardens, prior to a 769 
disaster, help increase community resilience in the event of a significant disaster, whether natural 770 
or human-caused.  771 
 772 
Mr. Morrell stated gardens should be designed with features that encourage social interaction and 773 
group gardening activities to enhance feelings of control and normalcy and reduce stress. They 774 
should be managed to support appropriate community building activities and events. In short, we 775 
need more, bigger and thoughtfully-designed community gardens, not fewer small gardens 776 
squeezed in where they are deemed out of the way. They need to be valued, not disregarded, for 777 
the expedience of another project.  778 
 779 
With respect to security concerns, he felt the police should be consulted. He added that he 780 
grew up in Maple Acres and recalled cutting through that pathway from the church, through the 781 
community gardens and would be surprised to hear that it is not being used as a through way. 782 
 783 
Mr. Andy Holt of Forest Street felt it was a mistake not to include the gardeners in today’s 784 
decision. He stated the gardeners were not at the Zoning Board due to lack of communication. 785 
He felt this project should not move forward with all the input that has been received. He felt the 786 
people who use the gardens should be included in this plan and the city should be working on 787 
correcting that. 788 
 789 
As far as the location of the solar, Mr. Holt stated there was talk about setbacks needing to be 50 790 
feet and trying to comply with that. The location of the garden is better for the setbacks. He felt it 791 
is a matter of what the City’s priorities are—setbacks and the zoning or the existing use of the 792 
land. He reiterated the difficulty of moving the garden. He pointed out that there seems to be a 793 
lot of discussion about fencing, but the Board is not discussing the  794 
garden and the impact it has on the community. 795 
 796 
Ms. Sandy Hunt of 33 Barker Street felt the City should make it work in its original location so 797 
that there is less disruption on the community garden. She stated she is a supporter of solar and 798 
asked if the project could  work in its original location. 799 
 800 
Heidi Bukowski of 58 Eaton Hill Gilsum read the following letter for the record: 801 
Dear members of the Planning Board. I am here today on behalf of my gardening friends to help 802 
support their plea to allow the Monadnock View Community Garden to remain where it is 803 
currently located and so that another location can be chosen for the Cedarcrest Solar Energy 804 

20 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 19 of 25 
 

system to be utilized. I am also a Planning Board member and I was asked to be on a committee 805 
that is called Soul Smart that is run by the Clean Energy New Hampshire. I do support solar and 806 
alternate energy sources. What I feel has occurred in this situation was miscommunication and 807 
misunderstanding of a piece of land where the Monadnock View Community Gardens are 808 
located. This group of gardeners who are being asked to move are upset for a number of 809 
reasons, which I will not get into because they all have. But what I feel we need is to compare the 810 
benefits for the positive aspects of both the community garden and the solar array. 811 
 812 
The two things I need you to realize is that mental health and food insecurity are a part of 813 
community gardens. Did you know that working in the soil and digging in the earth can improve 814 
your mental health? It has been proven time and time again that having people who feel isolated, 815 
depressed, insecure can benefit from their outdoor time in the sunshine and working the soil. 816 
This also has a huge benefit to the gardeners, their families and the people that are gathering at 817 
the Monadnock View Community Garden from which we heard from Michelle, her son, learning 818 
about growing their own fruit, sharing their knowledge with others as the young and the old 819 
intermix. It is a beautiful, healthy thing to have right here in our own community of Keene. 820 
 821 
Next are facts I gathered from the Feeding America website. Did you know that over 8000 822 
community members in Cheshire County are food insecure. Specifically, 13% of all the Cheshire 823 
County children are also suffering from food insecurity. Monadnock View Community Garden is 824 
doing a huge service to the Keene community where it has provided additional healthy 825 
vegetables to be brought to the community kitchen. I know this first-hand, because I was an 826 
employee at the Community Kitchen and the extra vegetables from other community gardens 827 
have always made the clients attend the community kitchen who are in need of these weekly 828 
boxes that are so happy to receive these freshly grown items. 829 
 830 
There is a need for the garden to continue doing what it has been doing. It is a great community 831 
connection between those that are giving and those that are in need. I also wanted to mention 832 
there are plots being used by gardeners who are providing their own families with food as we've 833 
heard to allow their monthly food budget to go further. We all know the grocery store costs have 834 
been increasing and community garden allows people to use their time, energy and knowledge to 835 
prevent more food insecurity from occurring in the City of Keene. 836 
 837 
Now to the benefits of solar, it can be a better environmental resource to save on the use of fossil 838 
fuels. Yes, it can allow Cedarcrest to offset their cost of energy and yes, it's a great idea; 839 
however, please allow the Monadnock View Community Garden to do their beneficial projects 840 
and good while Cedarcrest locates to another location for their own solar benefits. 841 
Thank you for listening. I am a concerned and active citizen, which at the bottom you'll see all 842 
the things I’m involved in who cares about this procedural process and I hope that this situation 843 
will have a positive outcome with accepting all the positives of the Monadnock View Community 844 
Garden as one to be preserved and applauded, while also working to find a better, more 845 
reasonable location for the solar system to benefit Cedarcrest. 846 
 847 
Mr. Rowland Russell stated he wanted to clarify some statistics regarding the plots that are not 848 
being used by gardeners at the community garden. The cost for six of them have been graciously 849 
covered by the City of Keene, so that we can grow for the Community Kitchen. Four of them are 850 

21 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 20 of 25 
 

long standing pollinator plots that were part of another project. There are two other plots that 851 
they are allowed to use. The garden has been fully subscribed for the last two years with a 852 
waiting list. 853 
 854 
Mr. Mike Miller of 365 East Surry Road stated they have a solar array on their house. He 855 
questioned some of the locations on the map. He asked why the array could not be separated and 856 
moved to different location so the garden does not have to be moved. He asked whether 857 
Cedarcrest could provide their comments on this proposal 858 
 859 
Mr. Jim Yannizze, Finance Director for Cedarcrest, stated they have been working with 860 
ReVision for quite some time on this project. Their intention is not to disrupt anything, but rather 861 
to offset their electric costs. Cedarcrest provides medical and educational care for children with 862 
disabilities. As the Director of Finance, they have a very high electricity cost in the summertime 863 
and are trying to figure out how to offset some of those costs. Solar energy is certainly a viable 864 
path forward for them. They have looked at the other options and this seemed to be the option.   865 
 866 
Ms. Ulin stated it was always their plan to co-exist with the garden and expressed appreciation 867 
for Staff time for developing a relocation plan. As far as some of the questions that were raised, 868 
they have thoroughly looked at the options for Cedarcrest on this parcel and this location is the 869 
best path forward to having both the garden and solar in this area. 870 
 871 
With respect to noise, the Land Development Code specify 60 decibels during daytime 872 
operations. This is included in the spec. sheets that were submitted and is the array would be 873 
enclosed by a barrier that will dampen noise. 874 
 875 
Ms. Nikiforakis addressed the Board and stated her understanding is that in the manufacturing 876 
world anything above 35 decibels requires ear protection. She indicated with the buffers it might 877 
not be severe, but you are supposed to be 5,200 feet away from solar panel noise. 878 
 879 
Mr. Bohannon addressed the committee again. He stated Staff will confirm numbers related to 880 
garden plots. He stated the two grants that the city received went through the City Council 881 
process. He stated Staff did meet with Mr. Russell and, based on that meeting, revised the initial 882 
drawings drawn up by the engineering department. He stated he recognizes the biggest challenge 883 
this group is facing is with soil quality and stated this is one of the things Staff will be following 884 
up with Mr. Russell. He stated the garden beds will be laid out this spring covered and cultivated 885 
for 2026 and can certainly work with the gardeners related to skimming the soil that is there now, 886 
cultivating that within a pile or placing it in beds to prepare the soil for 2026. He stated they had 887 
requested gardeners to remove their belongings in early November. Some gardeners had asked 888 
for the winter planting of garlic and the City accommodated that. He felt there was a strong plan 889 
for 2026. 890 
 891 
With no further comment, the Chairman closed the public hearing. 892 
 893 
 894 
 895 
 896 

22 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 21 of 25 
 

 897 
C. Board Discussion and Action 898 
 899 
A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni the Planning Board approve PB 2025-05 as 900 
shown on the plan identified as boundary line adjustment prepared by Huntley Survey and 901 
Design PLLC, at a scale of 1”= 60 feet on March 6, 2025 with the following conditions 902 
precedent.  903 

Prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair: 904 
1.Owner’s signature appears on the proposed BLA plan. 905 
2. Submittal of four full-size paper copies and two mylar copies of the plans.  906 
3. Submittal of a check in the amount of $26 made out to the City of Keene to cover    907 
    recording fees. 908 
4. Inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their designee 909 
    following their installation or the submittal of a security in a form and amount  910 
    acceptable to the Public Works Director to ensure that the monuments will be set. 911 

 912 
The motion was seconded by Armando Rangel. 913 
 914 
Mr. Hoefer clarified a positive vote on this would transfer property to Cedarcrest and asked 915 
whether there was a financial component to the transfer. Ms. Brunner stated any sale of City 916 
property has to go through City Council for approval, and then once City Council approves it, it 917 
would be up to the City Manager to negotiate the sale. She stated she believes the City is selling 918 
the land but wasn’t sure of the exact amount. 919 
 920 
With respect to how property transactions work, the Mayor stated those can be confidentially 921 
taken up in non-public session by the City Council with empowerment to the City Manager to 922 
then negotiate terms and see if that can happen. Regarding why it was not publicly noticed. He 923 
stated no property transaction is ever publicly noticed until after a sale has occurred. 924 
 925 
Mr. Kost asked once the Board approves the transfer, and the land is no longer owned by the 926 
City, does the City have less input into the site development. The Chair stated if the boundary 927 
line adjustment is not approved it would not make sense to move forward with the site plan 928 
approval. Mr. Kost stated there has been a lot of discussion about alternatives. He felt perhaps 929 
the Board should think about a little grace on the 50-foot setbacks and place this into a smaller 930 
footprint. Mr. Kost stated he wanted to make sure the Board was not precluding that discussion. 931 
Megan Fortson Planner stated she wanted to clarify that things like setbacks are requirements 932 
that live under the zoning code, and this ground mounted solar array is considered a structure 933 
that is subject to the setbacks for the conservation district in which it is proposed to be located. If 934 
the applicant proposed a setback that was less than 50 feet, that is something that would need to 935 
go to the Zoning Board for approval, this is not under the purview of the Planning Board. 936 
 937 
Ms. Mastrogiovanni stated as a Planning Board, they do not have a choice to change what is 938 
happening tonight as a gardener and as a supporter of the Community Kitchen encouraged the 939 
City to work with the gardeners, but stressed as a Board their hands are tied. 940 
 941 
 942 

23 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 22 of 25 
 

Mayor Kahn stated he would like to have a review as to the reason this site was selected.  Mr. 943 
Bohannon addressed the Board and stated the site was selected because the City had originally 944 
planned on the side where the community gardens are proposed for 2026. Looking at that parcel, 945 
it became evidently clear to the City working the negotiation between the City and ReVision 946 
Energy, that property tax exemption and the boundary line adjustment was very complicated. It 947 
was not going to benefit Cedarcrest in a way that was beneficial for a solar array on their 948 
property. It would have to be a lease, which really complicated the matter. 949 
 950 
The entire parcel in the very rear portion of the site is not desirable for future cemetery 951 
improvements. To meet zoning requirements, the location needed to be moved to this location 952 
and to provide Cedarcrest with the tax benefits that were to come with solar. 953 
 954 
Mr. Hoefer asked what the public process would be for this project after a vote today. The Chair 955 
stated for Planning Board decisions, there is a process where there is a period where abutters 956 
have a chance to appeal decisions.  957 
 958 
Ms. Brunner added, due to a recent change in state law, the only people who legally can appeal a 959 
decision need to have “standing”. If you are an abutter, in which you live within 200-feet of the 960 
property boundary, you are automatically considered to have “standing” and you can appeal 961 
within 30 days of the final decision. Otherwise, Ms. Brunner stated she thinks someone would 962 
have to appeal the court to get abutter status and then can appeal. Ms. Brunner went on to say the 963 
Planning Board’s decision tonight is whether the proposal meets Board standards. This project 964 
did require a variance, which is also a decision that can be appealed. Although Ms. Brunner 965 
believed that the appeal period of 30-day appeal time has mostly lapsed. The appeal would be 966 
from the date of final approval. What is happening tonight is what is called conditional approval. 967 
The 30-day appeal clock doesn't start until final approval is issued for the application. 968 
 969 
Mayor Kahn stated he finds himself thinking about three topics that are coming together here. 970 
Keene has an amazing facility with Cedarcrest. As Mr. Hansel stated, solar aligns with Keene’s 971 
community energy goals and the community is moving forward in those directions. Then there is 972 
the community garden, and the City could have some conflict if there isn’t a satisfactory plan 973 
going forward. He stated he was encouraged when he learned Mr. Bohannon and Ms. Fiske-974 
Hennessey tried to put forward a forward-looking plan but is learning tonight there are some 975 
potholes in this plan. He agreed this was a difficult decision, but the decision tonight is whether 976 
the site plan is in compliance with the city’s land use codes and based on the testimony, he can 977 
support that, recognizing there is still one project that still needs to be resolved in a better way.   978 
 979 
The motion to approve the boundary line adjustment carried on a unanimous vote.  980 
 981 
A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board approve PB-2025-04 as 982 
shown on the plan set identified as “Cedarcrest Inc.; Solar Site Development” prepared by 983 
Horizons Engineering at varying scales in February 2025 and last revised in March 2025 with the 984 
following conditions:  985 
 986 
1. Prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the following 987 
conditions precedent shall be met:  988 

24 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 23 of 25 
 

 a. A note shall be added to the proposed conditions plan to state that the access road to 989 
the cemetery shall be upgraded with additional gravel to support construction vehicles as 990 
determined necessary by the City of Keene. 991 

b. Owners’ signatures appear on the title page and proposed conditions plans.  992 
c. Submittal of five (5) full sized paper copies and a digital copy of the final plans.  993 
d. Submittal of a security in a form and amount acceptable to the Community 994 

Development Director or designee to cover the cost of sediment and erosion control measures 995 
and site stabilization.  996 

e. The lot line adjustment PB-2025-05 shall receive final approval. 997 
 998 
2. Subsequent to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair the 999 
following conditions shall be met:  1000 

a. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the submittal of documentation 1001 
demonstrating that the City of Keene has granted Cedarcrest the right to use the Monadnock 1002 
View Cemetery for temporary site access during construction. 1003 

 b. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the required 50’ setback line shall be pinned 1004 
by a surveyor licensed in the State of NH and prior to the commencement of site work, verified 1005 
by the Community Development Director, or their designee. 1006 

c. Prior to the commencement of site work, all sedimentation and erosion control 1007 
measures including the temporary construction access through the cemetery shall be improved as 1008 
necessary and inspected by the Community Development Director, or their designee. 1009 

 1010 
The motion was seconded by Armando Rangel. 1011 
 1012 
Mr. Mehu noted, while it’s not a legal document, does the master plan give any legal standing to 1013 
take into consideration cultural resources or agricultural resources. Ms. Brunner stated the master 1014 
plan is not a regulatory document. The Planning Board regulations do take that into account and 1015 
come up more under the Subdivision Regulations, but it is something the Board can consider 1016 
with the review of the application. 1017 
 1018 
The Chair asked if anyone wanted to address regional impact. Mr. Rangel stated this project does 1019 
not have a regional impact as defined.  1020 
 1021 
Chair Farrington stated he was empathetic to the gardeners and stated he and his wife are 1022 
fortunate to have room on their property for gardening. On the other hand, if an individual who 1023 
owned this property was not the City, they grew food but now decided to sell the property and 1024 
wanted to build houses, is that better or worse for the community. He stated it could be looked at 1025 
in both ways. However, by the time this proposal came to the Planning Board, the Board’s 1026 
purview would only be around the houses that were being built. This is the process we are in; by 1027 
the time it comes before the Board it is difficult to re-engineer the plan. 1028 
 1029 
Mr. Hoefer agreed with the Chairman and stated he would vote in favor. 1030 
 1031 
The motion to approve the site plan carried on a 7-1 vote with Mr. Mehu voting in opposition. 1032 
 1033 
 1034 

25 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 24 of 25 
 

 1035 
 1036 
VI. Master Plan Update (KeeneMasterPlan.com)  1037 
 1038 
Ms. Brunner stated the Master Plan project is underway and it is in the midst of going through 1039 
the task force meetings. Four task forces met last week for the third and final time and the other 1040 
two are meeting this week, which will wrap up the task force portion. Behind the scenes, the 1041 
consultants are working with Staff to develop draft chapters and work on much of the actual 1042 
writing of the document. There was a recent meeting with the steering committee and a great 1043 
presentation from the Chamber of Commerce about an initiative called Magnified Monadnock 1044 
that talks about trying to build the workforce in our area. Ms. Brunner encouraged the Board to 1045 
read those meeting minutes. 1046 
 1047 
The next step would be the Steering Committee meeting next week. There will be a presentation 1048 
from the 8th graders of Keene Middle School regarding their recommendation with respect to the 1049 
environmental pillar of the master plan. There will also be a presentation from Southwest 1050 
Regional Planning Commission regarding regional transportation planning initiatives. The 1051 
steering committee is going to be given an opportunity to provide their input into how they 1052 
would like to see Keene developed in the future. 1053 
 1054 
Following that, there will be the launch of an online story map, which will summarize much of 1055 
the input that was received from the task forces. This will be put out to the broader community 1056 
with a short questionnaire that goes along with it. The online discussion boards will continue to 1057 
be open through the end of March.  At the end of April, there will be another component added 1058 
to the story map to show the draft of the future land use map. There will be a prioritization 1059 
survey sent to the Planning Board, City Council and other city senior leadership to try and 1060 
prioritize some of those strategies. The last item would be the June 3rd Future Summit. This event 1061 
is when the city will unveil the draft plan to the public and get another round of feedback before 1062 
it enters the formal adoption phase.   1063 
 1064 
VII. Staff Updates  1065 
None 1066 
 1067 
VIII. New Business  1068 

a) Planning Board Updates on Administrative Approvals  1069 
 1070 
Ms. Brunner stated at the last Planning Board Steering committee meeting there was a discussion 1071 
about the possibility of having more regular updates on administrative approvals. She reminded 1072 
the Board under their site development standards, there are two sections. One is in the Site 1073 
Development Standards and Subdivision Standards and the other place is in Article 26, in which 1074 
it outlines application procedures. Article 26 of the Land Development Code is where it specifies 1075 
the different thresholds for different levels of planning review. Above a certain threshold, a 1076 
project comes to the Board as a major site plan. There is a middle tier, which goes to the Minor 1077 
Project Review Committee, and below that threshold, it gets reviewed administratively by Staff. 1078 
This is something the Board has delegated to Staff and Staff have been reporting out on those 1079 

26 of 81



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
March 24, 2025 

Page 25 of 25 
 

administrative approvals once a year, which is usually at the end of the calendar year. She asked 1080 
whether this frequency was sufficient for the Board.  1081 
 1082 
Ms. Brunner noted the Historic District Commission has requested quarterly updates, however, 1083 
in practice it has turned out to be more like once every six months because they don't meet every 1084 
month. The Chair stated the other question would be are the thresholds set correctly. 1085 
 1086 
Ms. Mastrogiovanni felt it would be prudent to have a report out more than once a year – perhaps 1087 
once every six months. 1088 
 1089 
Ms. Brunner stated they could bring back an in-depth review for next month. 1090 
 1091 
IX.     Upcoming Dates of Interest   1092 
• Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – April 14th, 6:30 PM  1093 
• Planning Board Steering Committee – April 8th, 12:00 PM  1094 
• Planning Board Site Visit – April 23rd, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed  1095 
• Planning Board Meeting – April 28th, 6:30 PM  1096 
 1097 
X.      MORE TIME ITEMS  1098 

a) Training on Site Development Standards – Snow Storage, Landscaping, & Screening  1099 
 1100 
XI.   ADJOURNMENT 1101 
There being no further business, Chair Farrington adjourned the meeting at 10:03 PM. 1102 
 1103 
Respectfully submitted by, 1104 
Krishni Pahl, Minute Taker 1105 
 1106 
Reviewed and edited by, 1107 
Emily Duseau, Planning Technician  1108 

27 of 81



 

 

3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 

 

(603) 352-5440 
KeeneNH.gov 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Planning Board    
 
FROM:   Community Development Staff 
 
DATE:   April 18, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Agenda Item A.3 - Final Vote on Conditional Approvals  

 

Recommendation:  

To grant final approval for any projects that have met all their “conditions precedent to final 
approval.” 

Background: 

This is a standing agenda item in response to the “George Stergiou v. City of Dover” opinion issued 
by the NH Supreme Court on July 21, 2022. As a matter of practice, the Planning Board issues a 
final vote on all conditionally approved projects after the “conditions precedent to final approval” 
have been met. This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. 

As of the date of this packet, the following application is ready for final approval: 

1. PB-2025-05 – Boundary Line Adjustment – Cedarcrest, 91 Maple Ave & 521 Park 
Ave 

2. PB-2025-04 – Solar Energy System CUP & Major Site Plan – Cedarcrest, 91 
Maple Ave & 521 Park Ave 

3. SPR-593, Modification # 2 – Major Site Plan – Bank of America, 20 Central 
Square 

If any projects meet their conditions precedent between date of this packet and the meeting, they 
will be identified and discussed during this agenda item.   

All Planning Board actions, including final approvals, are posted on the City of Keene website the 
day after the meeting at KeeneNH.gov/planning-board.  

 

  

28 of 81



From: Megan Ulin
To: Megan Fortson
Subject: Cedarcrest proposed inverter and equipment location change
Date: Thursday, April 3, 2025 1:21:58 PM
Attachments: image.png

Hi Megan, 

Here's a sketch of the new location for inverters and AC equipment, next to the existing transformer (red x is the old location). It still will have a vinyl privacy
fence and be enclosed as represented in our site plan application. The location change became necessary to facilitate the electrical tie in due to some updated
information we received at a recent site visit. We're hoping this may be accepted as a minor change, note there are no changes to the array structure, fencing,
access, etc... Thanks for following up on this for me, and for letting me know whether this email suffices or if proposed plan changes are necessary. 

Thanks, 

   

 

Megan Ulin  
Solar Project Developer | Employee-Owner

Direct: 603.583.4361

ReVision Energy, a Certified B Corp
Locations in Maine, New Hampshire & Massachusetts

  

29 of 81

mailto:mulin@revisionenergy.com
mailto:mfortson@keenenh.gov
https://www.revisionenergy.com/
https://www.revisionenergy.com/contact/






From: Rowland Russell
To: Community Development
Subject: Thank you!
Date: Tuesday, March 25, 2025 4:16:47 PM

Please share with everyone. Thanks! - R

~~~~~

Dear Planning Board members and Community Development staff,
I'd like to express my gratitude for the opportunity for our Monadnock View Community
Garden members and supporters to offer their input at Monday's meeting. I know we felt heard
and our contributions appreciated, and recognize that your options were constrained by the
parameters of state and local code and PB protocols.

As was expressed by several individuals at the hearing, it is unfortunate that we were not
included in the deliberations and planning a number of months ago. There would still have
been the same complications and balancing acts, but together we might have been able to
come up with a more satisfactory plan for all concerned. Our best hope for last night would
have been for a continuation, and I appreciate that this was inferred, though ultimately none of
the applicants chose that route. If they had, I might have suggested a number of alternatives:

Narrow the width between array rows and explore a variance on the setback to tighten
the footprint on the initial proposed site taken up by the Zoning Board in April, 2024.
Could a sale have been completed on that parcel instead, to allow beneficial tax credits,
etc.?
Assess the viability of differently configured array placement on either side of the
existing garden footprint, leaving 2 of the 3 sections of the garden intact while allowing
expansion on the other side of the array. Land transfer/sale might still been conducted.
Collaboration with the adjacent Baptist Church on a supplemental array on a portion of
their open land. 
Explore an agrivoltaic solution as some have suggested. This might have been the
ultimate win-win-win, providing Cedarcrest with clean and affordable energy, leaving
much of the garden and soil integrity intact, and serving as a signature achievement for
both the City of Keene and ReVision Energy.

I suppose I am only tilting at windmills!  It looks as if the door to any alternative is now
closed, and I have been combing through local and state statutes on the appeal process (very
daunting!). My head is spinning and my admiration for your making sense of it all grows!

Our group has a lot of work to do from here, but I'm gratified by how many supporters came
forward on our behalf, and proud of how we've come together in this challenging time. Thank
you once again for the chance to make ourselves heard!

sincerely,
Rowland

-- 

Rowland S. Russell, PhD

30 of 81

mailto:rrussell@antioch.edu
mailto:communitydevelopment@keenenh.gov
https://keenenh.gov/sites/default/files/2024-04/Agenda%20Packet%20Final.pdf
https://bluewave.energy/bw-resources/agrivoltaics-pairs-solar-panels-with-farming-solving-multiple-climate-caused-problems


 

 

 

P a g e  |  1  

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
DATE:  April 1, 2025 
  
TO:  Elizabeth Ferland, City Manager 
   
FROM: Carrah Fisk-Hennessey, Parks & Recreation Director 
  
SUBJECT: Monadnock View Community Gardens Interim & Relocation Updates 
  
  
Background:  
As part of the relocation of the Monadnock View Community Gardens and the sale of 
City property to Cedarcrest for Solar Energy installation, the Keene Parks & Recreation 
Department has been collaborating with Community Garden Ambassadors – identifying 
interim opportunities that work toward meeting City and gardener needs. As a short-
term solution to this challenging situation, we have committed to enhanced 
collaboration over the interim growing season so that our newly established community 
garden space will create a win for the gardeners, a win for the City, and a win for 
Cedarcrest and solar energy. Listed below are the interim plans: 
 

- Open 12 20x20 full size lots for this interim growing season in one quadrant of 
the new space plan (highlighted in pink)  

o 4,800 square feet of planting space (600-1000 square feet requested by 
gardeners in earlier March meeting) 

o No charge, soil condition as is (leaf compost available from public works) 
o Solely 2025 growing season (no overwintering crops) 
o 1 spigot, hose use for water needs 
o Safest access during construction (furthest from solar array property) 
o No overwintering crops in interim space allocations 

 Garden Ambassadors and the gardening group have the autonomy to 
allocate interim garden space among gardeners – these decision 
should be shared with KPRD as the interim plan becomes part of the 
relocation plan (Fall 2025) 

• They may decide how many gardeners share the space 
available in the interim plan 

• They can determine if select gardeners may retain their yearly 
rented spaces under this interim plan 

- Open 500 square foot pollinator and perennial space (highlighted in blue) 
o Designated free space, soil condition as is (leaf compost available from 

public works) 
o Include perennial planting space for berry bushes along property fence-

line near the blue highlighted pollinator and perennial space 
- Soil test with the UNH Cooperative Extension in interim space and new space 

o Check for contaminants 

31 of 81



o Identify current soil composition (enhancement planning opportunity) 
- Allow access for overwintered crops in current garden space 

o Must be harvested by June 20, 2025 
o Current garden materials (individually owned) must also be relocated by 

June 20, 2025 
- Relocate the tool shed, water collection devices, and compost bins for 

accessibility and security  
o Move once – requires thoughtful planning of space, access, security 
o Work with Mr. Wright from Bensonwood to move the tool shed and water 

collection devices (original builder/installer) 
- New Giving Garden space permanently allocated in relocated garden plan 

o (5) 20’x20’ plots (spaces 1,2,3,4,5) = 2,000 square feet of space 
- Modify the existing relocation plan for two more single bed rows to be adjusted 

to form a double row (spaces 55-61 and space 62-68) 
o More sustainable water access when irrigated (Fall 2025) 

- Community Garden Ambassadors will continue conversations with alternate 
sites to meet community gardener needs this season   

o Opportunities currently include Stonewall Farm, Old Elm Farm, Gemmo 
Forest in various states of conversation (nothing official) 

- Revision Energy has offered to increase the pollinator percentage in their seed 
mix as they re-establish turf in the solar footprint 

 
Additional notes: 
As we move forward in the relocation process…. 

- Work together to identify opportunities to partner with public, private, and non-
profit community garden endeavors within the City (and potentially outside of the 
City) limits (Antioch’s Community Garden Connection?)  

o The City hosts the Monadnock View Community Gardens (undergoing 
relocation to be open for 2026 with increased accessibility and 
opportunity) with a short-term interim plan for limited space gardening 
 Keene Housing offers community gardens (90 plots) and has a 

community garden manager.  
 Cheshire Medical Center has stated interest in revitalizing its 

community garden infrastructure.  
• Encourage Community Garden Ambassadors to 

acknowledge opportunities for senior living establishments 
and rehabilitative centers to begin community gardens  

- Rowland emphasized the importance of documentation stronger than our current 
gardener agreements to more clearly define roles and responsibilities of the 
gardening group and the City for community gardens hosted on city land 

o This will be part of enhancing the partnership on many levels, including 
more clearly defined roles, responsibilities, and fee structures, and will 
involve the City Attorney’s office 

- Rowland mentioned the idea of forming an adhoc committee to organize the flow 
of information and opportunity surrounding food security and gardening  

o The ideas listed above have been discussed before and movement stalled 
o This group – whether formal or informal – could act as a vehicle to bring 

experts together 
 For now, we will work on this grass-roots level, with Carrah being 

the point person for the Monadnock View Community Gardens and 

32 of 81



the working group to include the identified Community Garden 
Ambassadors – Toni, Tiea, and Rowland – along with invited 
guests with specific professional knowledge (i.e. Carl Majewski) 

33 of 81



SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF
SF

SF
SF

SF

SF

SF

SF
SF

SF
SF

SF

SF

SF
SF

SF

E

E

E

E

E

E

516

516

517

518

515

514

514

516

516

516

517

517

OF 01

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

CONCEPT
PLAN

SC
A

LE
:  

1"
 =

 3
0'

C
IT

Y
  O

F 
 K

EE
N

E

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
  D

EP
A

R
TM

EN
T

N
EW

  H
A

M
PS

H
IR

E

C
he

ck
ed

 b
y:

 X
X

X
X

X
X

X
 P

.E
., 

C
ity

 E
ng

in
ee

r

M
A

R
C

H
 6

, 2
02

5

D
es

ig
ne

d 
by

:  
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

D
ra

w
n 

by
:  

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

03
/1

8/
20

25

SHEET

01
1 inch =         ft.

( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE
030 30 60

30

12015

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

 G
A

R
D

EN
 C

O
N

C
EP

T
PM

O
N

A
D

N
O

C
K

 V
IE

W
 C

EM
ET

ER
Y

O
FF

 P
A

R
K

 &
 M

A
PL

E 
A

V
E

C
IT

Y
  O

F 
 K

EE
N

E,
  N

EW
 H

A
M

PS
H

IR
E

R
EV

IS
ED

 P
ER

 M
A

R
K

-U
PS

34 of 81



From: jenoonan fieldstonelandconsultants.com <jenoonan@fieldstonelandconsultants.com> 
Sent: Friday, April 11, 2025 1:47 PM
To: Mari Brunner <mbrunner@keenenh.gov>
Cc: eric farris <e_farris@hotmail.com>; Chad Branon <cebranon@fieldstonelandconsultants.com> 
Subject: Contains JavaScript: 3145.01 - FARRIS - TIMBERLANE DRIVE PB-2024-14

Hi Mari,

Would we be able to request an extension on the Conditional Approval for the Cottage Court project 
on Timberlane Drive?  We just received an RMI from the AOT reviewer and are concerned they 
might not send the permit before the 4/27 expiry date on PB-2024-14.

Best Regards,

John Noonan
Project Manager

35 of 81

mailto:jenoonan@fieldstonelandconsultants.com
mailto:mbrunner@keenenh.gov
mailto:e_farris@hotmail.com
mailto:cebranon@fieldstonelandconsultants.com


STAFF REPORT - AMENDED 
 

PB-2025-06 – MAJOR SITE PLAN & COTTAGE COURT & SURFACE WATER PROTECTION 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS – GUITARD HOMES DEVELOPMENT, 0 COURT STREET 

 
Request: 

Applicant Fieldstone Land Consultants PLLC, on behalf of owner Guitard Homes LLC, proposes a 
Cottage Court Development consisting of 29 single-family units accessed by a private driveway 
on the undeveloped lot at 0 Court St (TMP #228-016-000). A Surface Water Protection CUP is 
requested for impacts to the 30’ surface water buffer. A waiver is requested from Section 21.7.3.C 
of the LDC regarding light trespass. The parcel is ~9.5-ac in size and is located in the Low Density 
District. 
 
Background:  

The subject parcel is ~9.5-ac in size 
and is located about 1/3 mile north of 
Cheshire Medical Center on the 
northeastern side of Court St. The lot 
is undeveloped with a nursing home 
abutting directly to the west, 
undeveloped land to the north and 
northeast, commercial offices across 
Court St. to the southwest, and single-
family homes to the southeast. 
Notable features on the site include a 
small stream and wetland system that 
run in a north-south orientation 
through the parcel and an old woods 
road that is used as a walking trail, 
which runs along the northeastern 
property boundary and connects to the 
neighborhood to the south. The parcel 
has ~344’ of frontage along Court St. 
and is in the Low Density District. 
 
The property owner proposes to 
construct a 29-unit Cottage Court 
Development consisting of single-
family homes in three separate 
phases. The units will be accessed 
from a private driveway connecting to 
Court St as well as a secondary travel 
aisle connecting to the adjacent Keene 
Center nursing home parcel at 677 
Court St (TMP #228-015-000). Major 
Site Plan review and a Surface Water 
CUP are required because more than 5 dwelling units are proposed to be constructed and there 
will be some impacts within portions of the required 30’ surface water buffer.  
 

 

36 of 81



STAFF REPORT - AMENDED 
 

Determination of Regional Impact: 

After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary determination that the proposed 
project does not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. The 
Board will need to make a final determination as to whether the proposal, if approved, could have 
the potential for regional impact. 
 
Completeness: 

The applicant has requested exemptions from submitting a historic evaluation and screening 
analysis. Planning Staff have made the preliminary determination that granting the requested 
exemptions would have no bearing on the merits of this application and recommend that the 
Board accept the application as “complete.” 
 
Departmental Comments: 

 Planning: The project narrative states that the first project phase is anticipated to start 
this summer and the final, third phase will begin in 2027. In correspondence with staff, the 
applicant indicated that two years per phase would be adequate for achieving active and 
substantial development for each phase. This should be reflected in the approval motion. 

 Code Enforcement: Please be aware that a building permit will be needed. 

 Zoning: The proposed driveway access from 677 Court St is permitted because a shared 
driveway easement exists and was already approved by the Planning Board to serve as a 
potential site access point for the subject parcel. 

 Engineering:  
1. Please be aware that there are no available address numbers for Court Street at the 

proposed development location. To address this issue, the proposed driveway shall 
be named, with individual addresses issued for each structure in accordance with the 
New Hampshire Department of Safety 911 Address Standards Guidelines.  A note and 
additional details must be added to the plans to address these requirements.  

2. The water main is shown on the profile with less than 5’ of cover but specified with 5’ 
of cover on the details page, for all locations where the water main is proposed with 
less than 5’ of cover insulation must be provided.  

3. Hydrants and a typical detail for hydrants is required to be provided on the plans in 
conformance with City of Keene standards.  

4. The plans specify a 12x6 wye connection for the proposed sanitary sewer, but also 
propose an 8” sewer main. Regardless, the connection to the existing sewer must be 
provided with a manhole in conformance with NHDES requirements, given that the 
proposed flows exceed 5,000 GPD.  SMH#1 can be moved to the proposed connection 
point of the existing and proposed sewer mains.  

5. The narrative describes that the water and sewer will be publicly maintained but the 
response letter to City Staff comments indicates that easements will be provided, the 
intent should be clarified.  

6. A typical sewer trench detail in conformance with City of Keene Public Works 
standards is required to be provided on the plans.  

7. The proposed water main is shown going through proposed catchbasin #8.  

37 of 81



STAFF REPORT - AMENDED 
 

8. SMH#2 should be moved to the west and the water and sewer main locations should 
be swapped in the connector road travel way to avoid crossing. In addition, this sewer 
main should be extended to eliminate the multiple sanitary sewer services that are 
proposed connecting to SMH#3.  

9. The box culvert detail specifies existing stream material, but this should be revised to 
simulated stream material in the event that the existing stream material is unsuitable 
for reuse.  
 

ARTICLE 11 SURFACE WATER PROTECTION CUP ANALYSIS: The following is a review of the 
standards in Section 11.6.2 of the LDC that are relevant to the review of this application. 

 
A – LOCATION OF PROPOSED USE, & B – BUFFER ENCROACHMENT: These standards require the 
applicant to demonstrate that “The proposed use…cannot be located in a manner to avoid 
encroachment into the Surface Water Protection Overlay District” and that the project is designed 
to minimize impacts to the surface water buffer. Figure 2 shows the proposed layout of this 
development. Approximately 7 of the homes and/or their associated sheds are proposed to be 
located right on the edge of the 30’ surface water buffer, and an additional five buildings and/or 
accessory structures will be located within the buffer with a total impact of 1,365 sf.  

 
The project narrative states that the applicant designed the proposed development to utilize the 
cottage court development model to its fullest potential. The proposed cottages are grouped in 
three clusters in the upland areas on the site to minimize impacts buffer impacts. Given the 
proximity of some of the proposed structures to the surface water buffer, Planning Staff 

38 of 81



STAFF REPORT - AMENDED 
 

recommend that the Board require the submittal of a security to cover the cost of sediment and 
erosion control measures prior to final approval as well as the flagging and inspection of the 30’ 
surface water by Community Development Staff prior to the start of construction. 
 
Due to the limited area of encroachment into the buffer and the proposed measures to mitigate 
any impacts (plantings, conservation seed mix, stormwater infrastructure, etc.), it appears that 
the intent of these standards has been met. 
 
C – ADVERSE IMPACTS: The project narrative and proposed conditions plan on Sheet 4 of the 
plan set show that the proposed private driveway will cross through the wetlands in two locations. 
The project narrative states that each wetlands crossing has been designed to keep the natural 
characteristics of the wetlands and is needed for access to the property. This disturbance will 
require that the applicant pursue a separate permitting process though the NH Department of 
Environment Services (NHDES). The Board will need to decide if the proposed development, 
“when taken as a whole, will avoid the potential for adverse impacts to the surface water resource.” 
Planning Staff recommend that the Board include a condition of approval related to including the 
State permit approval numbers on the proposed conditions plans on Sheets 3 & 4 of the plan set. 
 
D – PRESERVATION OF EXISTING VEGETATION: The proposed plans show the proposed edge of 
the tree line throughout the site. There are several locations where clearing is proposed within the 
buffer to install stormwater infrastructure; however, the project narrative states that these 
improvements will not adversely impact the buffer and will ensure that water runoff is treated 
prior to flowing into the wetlands. A wooded buffer around the perimeter of the property is 
proposed to provide permanent screening for the overall development from adjacent parcels and 
the public right-of-way. The project narrative and landscaping plans indicate that existing trees 
will be protected during construction using temporary fencing. The applicant proposes to use a 
conservation seed mix to stabilize the site following construction, install 12 Red Maple trees 
along the entry drive, and plant a mix of holly, juniper, and rhododendron bushes around the 
property. The Board will need to make a final determination as to whether maintaining the existing 
vegetation where possible and installing new plantings within the portions of the buffer where the 
existing vegetation is proposed to be removed meets the intent of this standard. 
 
E – ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS: The project narrative states that the proposed stormwater 
improvements within the buffer and erosion control measures will serve to protect the adjacent 
wetlands in the areas of encroachment. The City of Keene’s Conservation Commission performed 
a site visit of this parcel on November 18, 2024. The relevant section of the minutes from this 
meeting are included as an attachment to this staff report. Upon reviewing the minutes, the 
general consensus of the Commission’s discussion seemed to be that they appreciated the 
applicant’s attention to detail in trying to minimize impacts to the surface water in each area of 
encroachment on the site. Additionally, they recommended that the applicant pay close attention 
to the stormwater design for the development, given the increasing occurrence of severe storm 
events in the area. The applicant will be meeting with the Conservation Commission again at their 
next meeting on April 15th. Planning Staff can share any further comments that they may have on 
this proposal at the April 28th Planning Board meeting. 
 
 
 
 

39 of 81



STAFF REPORT - AMENDED 
 

ARTICLE 17 COTTAGE COURT CUP ANALYSIS: The following is a review of the standards in 
Section 17.5 that are relevant to the review of this application. 

 
1 – DEVELOPMENT TYPES ALLOWED: This project is proposed to be developed on a single parcel 
of land managed by a Condominium Association. Planning Staff recommend that a condition of 
approval related to the submittal of draft and recorded/final copies of all legal instruments 
associated with this project in the motion for this application. This standard appears to be met. 
 
2 – DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS: Table 1 shows the required dimensional standards for a cottage 
court development located in the Low Density District as well as the dimensional standards 
proposed as part of this specific application. The subject parcel is ~9.5-ac in size with ~344’ of 
frontage along Court St. The setbacks of all units from the rear, side, and front of the parcel will 
comply with the setback requirements for the Low Density District outlined under Section 3.3.2 
of the City’s Land Development Code (LDC). Note #4 on Sheet 4 of the plan set indicates that the 
buildings will have a maximum height of 2 stories. This standard appears to be met. 
 

Table 1: Required vs. proposed dimensional standards. 
 Required Proposed 
Minimum 
tract size 

None ~9.5-ac 

Minimum 
tract 
frontage 

30’ ~344’ 
 

Perimeter 
setback from 
road 

Setbacks from existing roads external to the 
development may be less than the underlying 
zoning district in order to match an 
established building line along the road. 

15’ 

Perimeter 
setback from 
other tract 
boundaries 

Rear: 20’ 
Side: 10’ 

Rear: 20’ 
Side: 10’ 

Density None 29 units per acre  
Height 2.5 stories or 35’ max 2 stories  

 

3 – CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT STANDARDS: 

A. Dwelling Unit Size: This standard requires a maximum average size of 1,250 square feet 
gross floor area (gfa) and a maximum building footprint of 900 square feet per unit. Note 
#4 on Sheet 4 of the plan set indicates that the three building designs offered will be 627-
sf gfa; 1,250-sf gfa; and 1,394-sf gfa, which results in a maximum average gross floor area 
of 1,164-sf and a maximum building footprint of 852-sf. This standard appears to be met. 
 

B. Parking: This standard allows for a minimum of one parking space per unit and a 
maximum of one space per bedroom. The proposed unit types will have either two or three 
bedrooms as indicated in Note #4 on Sheet 4 of the plan set. The parking calculation note 
at the bottom of this same page indicates that a minimum of 29 spaces and a maximum 
of 81 spaces could be provided. The applicant is proposing to offer a total of 58 parking 
spaces through both surface parking spaces located in the driveway for each individual 

40 of 81



STAFF REPORT - AMENDED 
 

unit as well as 9 housing units that will have an attached garage. This standard appears 
to be met. 
 

C. Building Separation: The project narrative states that the two closest buildings in the 
development will be 14’ apart. The application materials were reviewed by both the Fire 
Marshal/Building Official and Plans Examiner and neither of them expressed concern in 
relation to this separation. This standard appears to be met. 
 

D. Driveways: This standard states that one-way drive aisles can measure between 10-12’ 
wide while two-way drive aisles can be between 20-24’ wide. The proposed conditions 
plan shows that the proposed width of the private driveway is 20’. This standard also 
encourages the incorporation of design features that give driveways the appearance of 
streets, including sidewalks, street trees, and lighting. The property owner is proposing to 
install Red Maple trees and streetlights along each side of the driveway as shown the 
submitted plans. This standard appears to be met. 
 

E. Internal Roads: There are no internal roads proposed as part of this project. This standard 
is not applicable. 
 

F. Screening: This standard states that a 6’-tall opaque or semi-opaque fence is required if 
the building type is proposed to be more intense than the adjacent building type. Given 
that the subject parcel is surrounded by commercial uses to the north and west, vacant 
land to the east, and single-family homes to the south, no screening is required; however, 
the applicant is proposing to maintain some of the existing wooded vegetation around the 
perimeter of the site and install a fence near the site access from Court St. This standard 
appears to be met 

 
4 – ARCHITECTURAL GUIDELINES: This standard states that projects, “should endeavor to ‘fit in’ 
or be respectful of the context of the surrounding neighborhood.” The applicant proposes to 
construct 29 single-family homes that will be oriented towards a private driveway internal to the 
site. Renderings showing the three different building styles proposed have been submitted and 
are included as an attachment to this staff report.  
 
The project narrative states that buildings will be finished with natural tones that will fit in with 
the nearby neighborhoods in the City and will complement one another well. In addition, the 
proposed building styles align with recommended urban design and architectural principals listed 
in this section (buildings are narrow to the frontage, base differentiated, structural expression, 
simple, clear massing, natural / integral materials, vertical and repetitive fenestration, contextual 
materials, unified landscaping, etc.). This standard appears to be met. 
 

ARTICLE 21 SITE DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS ANALYSIS: The following is a review of the 
standards in Article 21 that are relevant to the review of this application. 

 
SECTION 21.2 - DRAINAGE: The project narrative states that the proposed stormwater 
management on the site will be designed to convey drainage away from the buildings and off the 
paved driveways as well as provide treatment and retention of stormwater runoff. The grading & 
drainage plans on Sheets 5 & 6 of the plan set show the installation of catchbasins, infiltration 
trenches with treatment swales, a box culvert, and gravel wetlands ponds on the site. During the 
review of the application materials, the City Engineer did not express any concern over the 

41 of 81



STAFF REPORT - AMENDED 
 

submitted stormwater report or the proposed stormwater management measures. In the project 
narrative, the applicant notes that the project will require an Alteration of Terrain Permit and a 
Wetlands Impact Permit from NH DES. This standard appears to be met. 
 
SECTION 21.3 - SEDIMENT & EROSION CONTROL: The project narrative states that temporary 
erosion control measures during construction will include the installation of catch basin silt-
socks, silt fencing, and a stabilized construction entrance from Court St. Permanent erosion 
control measures will include stone rip-rap, stone check dams, established vegetation, erosion 
control matting, and asphalt pavement. Planning Staff recommend conditions of approval related 
to the submittal of a security to cover the cost of sediment and erosion control measures as well 
as the inspection of the erosion control measures by the Community Development Director 
following their installation. This standard appears to be met. 
 
SECTION 21.4 - SNOW STORAGE & REMOVAL: The project narrative states that snow will be 
stored on site and plowed to the sides of roads and driveways. Note #13 on Sheet 4 of the plan 
set states that snow cannot be pushed into or stored in wetlands areas. This standard appears 
to be met. 
 
SECTION 21.5 - LANDSCAPING: The landscaping plan on Sheet 12 of the plan set shows that 12 
Red Maple trees will be installed along the driveway as street trees. A variety of shrubs including 
6 rhododendrons, 6 junipers, and 6 holly bushes will be installed at the entrance to the site as well 
as around the transformers on the property to serve as screening. Planning Staff recommend that 
the Board include conditions of approval related to submittal of a security for landscaping as well 
as the completion of initial and final landscaping inspections. This standard appears to be met. 
 
SECTION 21.6 - SCREENING: The project narrative states that trash removal will be handled 
individually by each condo owner and states that mechanical equipment will be installed behind 
each building so as not to be visible from the public right-of-way. The site itself will be screened 
from view of adjacent properties and the public right-of-way by the wooded buffer that will be 
maintained around the perimeter of the property. This standard appears to be met. 
 
SECTION 21.7 - LIGHTING: The photometric plan on Sheet 11 of the plan set shows that the 
applicant proposes to install a mix of pole lights along the drive aisle as well as house lights on 
each dwelling unit. The product specification sheets for each of these light fixtures show that 
they are full cut-off with a color temperature of 3,500K or less. The streetlights are proposed to 
be installed 12’ above finished grade in compliance with Table 21-1 of the LDC. This application 
was originally noticed with a request for a waiver from Section 21.7.3.C of the LDC to allow for 
light trespass levels above 0.1-footcandles (fc) along the northern property line where the drive 
aisle connecting to the adjacent parcel at 677 Court St is proposed to be constructed; however, 
the applicant has submitted an updated photometric plan with a reduced number of pole light 
fixtures to negate the need for this waiver request. This standard appears to be met. 
 
SECTION 21.8 - SEWER & WATER: The utility plans on Sheets 9 & 10 of the plan set show the 
proposed locations of the sewer and water utilities on the property. These utilities will be 
constructed by the applicant, tied into existing City infrastructure, and ultimately turned over to 
the City for perpetual maintenance as municipal infrastructure. Planning Staff recommend that 
the Board include conditions of approval related to the submittal of any necessary 
documentation, including easements, related to the acceptance of this infrastructure by the City 
of Keene. This standard appears to be met.  

42 of 81



STAFF REPORT - AMENDED 
 

 
SECTION 21.9 - TRAFFIC & ACCESS MANAGEMENT: The proposed conditions plan shows that 
primary access to the site will be from a single shared driveway off of Court St. The applicant has 
submitted a traffic memo that was prepared by a traffic engineer using historical data from the 
NH Department of Transportation’s (NHDOT’s) Transportation Data Management System 
Database. This memo estimates that this 29-unit development would result in approximately 24 
vehicle trips during the weekday morning peak hour, 31 trips during the weekday evening peak 
hour, and 35 trips during the Saturday midday peak hour, with the result being that vehicular trips 
associated with this development, “would have negligible impacts on the adjacent roadway 
system.” This standard appears to be met. 
 
SECTION 21.10 - FILLING & EXCAVATION: The project narrative states that the project will require 
grading in some areas and fill in others, which will result in more than 50 truckloads of material 
brought onto the site during the combined three phases of construction. The proposed truck route 
would be along Court St to Maple Ave and onto NH Route 12. This standard appears to be met. 
 
SECTION 21.11 - SURFACE WATERS & WETLANDS: The proposed impacts to surface waters and 
wetlands were addressed earlier in this staff report. 
 
SECTION 21.12 - HAZARDOUS & TOXIC MATERIALS: The project narrative states that there are 
no hazardous or toxic materials involved with this project. This standard is not applicable. 
 
SECTION 21.13 - NOISE: The project narrative states that the noise increase associated with this 
project will be minimal due to the residential nature of the proposed development. This standard 
appears to be met. 
 
SECTION 21.14 - ARCHITECTURE & VISUAL APPEARANCE: The proposed architectural and visual 
appearance of the homes was addressed earlier in this staff report. 
 
 
Recommended Motion: If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following language is 
recommended for a motion: 
 
“Approve PB-2025-06 as shown on the plan set identified as “Guitard Homes Cottage Court” 
prepared by Fieldstone Land Consultants, PLLC at varying scales on March 21, 2025 and last 
revised on April 14, 2025 with the following conditions: 

 
1. Prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the following 

conditions shall be met: 
a. Owner’s signature appears on the title page, condo site plan, and master site plan. 
b. Submittal of five (5) full sized paper copies and a digital copy of the final plan set, 

including renderings. 
c. Submittal of an updated plan set that addresses all outstanding comments from 

the City Engineer and shows the proposed name for the private driveway, which 
shall be subject to review and approval by the City Engineer. 

43 of 81



STAFF REPORT - AMENDED 
 

d. Submittal of a security in a form and amount acceptable to the Community 
Development Director to cover the cost of landscaping, sediment and erosion 
control measures, and “as built” plans. 

e. Submittal of draft written documentation of the required utility easements and any 
other necessary legal instruments required for this application, which shall be 
subject to review by the City Attorney. 

f. The approved permit numbers for the Shoreland Protection, Alteration of Terrain 
& Wetlands Permits as well as any other required State permits shall be added to 
the proposed conditions plan on Sheet MP-1 of the plan set. 

 
2. Subsequent to final approval and signature of the final plans by the Planning Board Chair, 

the following conditions shall be met: 
a. The applicant shall have two years to achieve “Active and Substantial 

Development” for each project phase, as follows: 
i. Phase I – May 1, 2027. 

ii. Phase II – May 1, 2029. 
iii. Phase III – May 1, 2031. 

b. Prior to the commencement of site work, the following conditions shall be met: 
i. The Community Development Department shall be notified when all erosion 

control measures have been installed and Community Development staff 
shall inspect the erosion control measures to ensure compliance with the 
approved plans and all City of Keene regulations. 

ii. The 30’ surface water buffer shall be flagged by a surveyor licensed in the 
state of NH and inspected by Community Development staff. 

c. Submittal of recorded utility easements and any other legal instruments necessary 
for this application to the Community Development Department. 

d. The applicant shall obtain final acceptance of the new utilities from the Keene City 
Council following the completion of all infrastructure construction. 

e. Following the initial installation of plantings, the Community Development 
Department should be contacted to perform an initial landscaping inspection to 
ensure compliance with the approved landscaping plan and all City of Keene 
regulations. 

f. One year after the installation of landscaping, the Community Development 
Department should be contacted to perform a final landscaping inspection to 
ensure that all plantings are in good health.” 

 
 

44 of 81



45 of 81



46 of 81



47 of 81



48 of 81



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cottage Court Development 
Site Plan and CUP Narrative 

 
Guitard Homes, LLC 

Tax Map Parcel 228, Lot 16 
Court Street, Keene, New Hampshire 

 
Revised April 14, 2025 

Project Narrative: 
Fieldstone Land Consultants, on behalf of Guitard Homes, LLC, is submitting a Cottage Court Overlay 
development plan for Planning Board review. The proposal consists of developing Tax Map Lot 228-16 
located on Court Street, in a Cottage Court single-family residential development with 29 dwelling 
units. The applicant has decided to utilize the recently adopted Cottage Court Overlay regulations with 
a private driveway.  This layout will provide condominium style ownership for future homeowners with 
a goal of providing much needed affordable, owner-occupied housing.   
 
The existing Tax Map Lot 228-16 has 9.7+/- acres with 303.59 feet of frontage along Court Street. The 
lot is located in the Low Density District and is currently undeveloped.  The property is primarily 
wooded with young forest with some forested wetland areas in the lower elevations.    
 
The proposed buildings will have access from Court Street via a central driveway that has one small 
spur to utilize the dry areas on site. We anticipate two wetland crossings for this development and 
there will be buffer impacts in the wetland crossing areas as well as in some backyard areas to provide 
for a nice residential setting with proper spacing around the units. A homeowner’s association will be 
formed to provide maintenance of the access road and common facilities and amenities. 
 
The sizes of the units will vary, as there is a mix of two-bedroom and three-bedroom designs. The 
buildings will be 1-2 stories, and include either an optional garage or shed. The building designs 
contemplate a modern New England style architecture and will meet the Cottage Court standards.  The 
plans for these units have been provided for review and comment. 
 
The residential development will be serviced by the municipal water and sanitary sewer infrastructure 
that is located along Court Street.  Easements will be provided to the City of Keene where necessary for 
the infrastructure. The stormwater management will be constructed on site and maintained by the 
homeowner’s association. The project will disturb more than 100,000 S.F. of land, requiring an 
Alteration of Terrain permit with NHDES.  The shared driveway will cross wetland areas and require a 
Wetland permit with NHDES.  
 
The development will require three applications from the Planning Board; the Cottage Court 
Conditional Use Permit (CUP), Major Site Plan, and Surface Water CUP.  The development standards for 
the three applications are outlined below with descriptions on how the standards are met.  

49 of 81



 
 
Guitard Homes CUP & SPR         Page 2 
Tax Map Parcel 228-016 
Court St. Keene, NH              
 
 
Cottage Court Overlay CUP Standards (Article 17.5.3 of the LDC): 
 

17.5.3.A Dwelling Unit Sizes: The dwelling unit sizes vary based on the three house styles; all 
units will meet the maximum of 900 footprint area, and 1250 S.F. in average gross floor area 
(average for the whole development). The unit sizes are listed on SP-1 sheet.   
17.5.3.B Parking:  There are no parking lots proposed for this site. Each dwelling unit can fit at 
least 2 spaces per driveway and some homes will have an attached garage.  
17.5.3.C Building Separation:  The buildings are separated to meet building and fire codes. The 
two closest buildings are 14.0 feet apart.  
17.5.3.D Driveways:  The driveways will meet the requirements of this section. The main 
private drive will be 20’ wide with cape cod curbing, street lighting, and trees. The driveways 
will be 9’ wide. Intersections of the spur and main driveway will have radial corners to allow for 
turnaround of emergency vehicles, such as a ladder truck.  
17.5.3.E Internal Roads:  The development will not have a “road” with a defined right-of-way. 
There will be an easement for water & sewer utilities, owned by the City.  
17.5.3.F Screening:  The proposed buildings will be screened from adjacent properties and the 
City Street.  There is a vegetated buffer to remain along property lines. The southern boundary 
along Court Street will have a forest buffer and fence along the main entrance to the site.  
 

Site Development Standards (Article 21 of the LDC): 
 

21.2. Drainage & Stormwater: The site will be designed to convey the drainage away from the 
buildings and off the paved driveways. The stormwater will be managed to provide treatment 
and retention of rainstorm runoff waters. The systems have been designed to match or reduce 
the stormwater runoff that exists on the undeveloped site for the 2, 10, 25, and 50 year storm 
events, as required by NHDES and the City of Keene.  The project will require an NHDES – 
Alteration of Terrain permit and Wetland Impact permit. 
21.3 Sediment & Erosion Control: Temporary erosion control measures consisting of catch 
basin silt-socks, silt fencing, and a stabilized construction entrance will be used during the 
construction process.  The permanent erosion control measures will consist of stone rip-rap, 
stone check dams, established vegetation, erosion control matting, and asphalt pavement.  
21.4 Snow Storage & Removal: Snow will be stored on site. The snow will be plowed to the 
sides of the roads and driveways of the homes.  
21.5 Landscaping:  Landscaping will meet the City LDC standards and is provided along the 
roadway and entrance of the development.  Plantings around the homes will be based on the 
homeowners’ preference.  
21.6 Screening: The perimeter of the site will have trees maintained for natural screening from 
the public way. The HVAC equipment for the buildings will be placed behind the buildings to not 
be visible from the public way. The transformers for the development will be screened by 
evergreen shrubs. There is vegetated buffer between Court Street and the site, as well as a 
fence that is placed along Court Street which will provide overall screening for the 
development.  
21.7 Lighting: All lighting will meet the City LDC standards and will not impact the public. Details 

50 of 81



 
 
Guitard Homes CUP & SPR         Page 3 
Tax Map Parcel 228-016 
Court St. Keene, NH              
 

are shown on the LT-1 Lighting Plan.  
21.8 Sewer & Water:  Sewer and water will be municipal services, which includes domestic 
water and sanitary sewer to each building.  Easements will be provided to the City to allow 
access to the municipal infrastructure where necessary.   
21.9 Traffic & Access Management: Access will be off Court Street with a private drive, built to 
City road standards. As well as an entrance off of Keene Center’s (Genesis Health Care) private 
drive utilizing the easement shown on sheet EX-1. A traffic memo has been provided by a 
Traffic Engineer with trip generation estimates outlined.  A full traffic study will be conducted 
and submitted in the near future. We ask for this to be a condition of approval, as the traffic 
study will require data collection of traffic on Court Street, adding substantial time delays to the 
project. 
21.10 Filling & Excavation: The proposed grading will require filling in some areas and 
excavation in other areas. The materials used to fill on site, will be stock piled on the property. 
Select gravels and fill material for construction will need to be imported to the site. Any 
excavations within the City right-of-way will be outlined in the Excavation Permit with Keene 
Public Works.  The overall amount of borrow material will exceed 50 truckloads for all three 
phases of the project.  The trucking route will be along Court Street to Maple Ave, and onto NH 
Route 12.  
21.11 Surface Waters & Wetlands: There are impacts to the delineated wetlands on the site for 
the crossing of the roadway.  The homes do not impact the wetland resources, only the access 
across the wetlands. The wetland buffer of 30’ will impacted slightly by housing.  6 structures 
(dwelling unit/shed) are impacting the buffer.  The majority of the proposed work within the 
30’ buffer is for stormwater management.  The wetland crossings will be permitted with 
NHDES. 
21.12 Hazardous & Toxic Materials: There are none associated with this project.  The trash for 
the homes will be handled by each individual homeowner; no dumpsters are proposed. The 
HOA or Condo-Association could contract for a scheduled pickup day at each home, if 
financially beneficial.  This would not be finalized until the association is formed.  
21.13 Noise: Noise increase will be minimal for the residential use and the project is buffered 
from the nearest residential home.  
21.14 Architecture & Visual Appearance: The architecture will be 2–3 bedroom dwellings that 
vary 1-2 stories in height. The colors will be natural tones and fit with the nearby 
neighborhoods in the City. The architecture of the three styles of homes compliment one 
another and will be visually pleasing.  The homes will be smaller in footprint and fit in with the 
“Cottage” style as outlined in the LDC.  The three styles have been submitted for review. The 
three types of homes have been provided and labeled to correlate with the site plans. 
26.12.11.C Phasing: The project will be phased, as shown on the plans. The first phase will 
include the homes nearest Court Street before the wetland crossing. This phase is anticipated 
to start construction in 2025. Phase 2 would include the homes from the wetland crossing to 
the cul-de-sac.  This phase is anticipated to start in 2026. Phase 3 would include the remaining 
homes from the cul-de-sac to the end of hammerhead turn-around.  This phase would start in 
2027.  The table of phasing is included on the site plan and the phasing will be driven by market 
conditions. This table shows the number of homes per phase.  

 

51 of 81



 
 
Guitard Homes CUP & SPR         Page 4 
Tax Map Parcel 228-016 
Court St. Keene, NH              
 
Surface Water Protection CUP Standards (Article 11 of the LDC): 
 

11.6.2A Generally: The proposed use is designed to utilize the Cottage Court overlay district to 
it’d fullest.  
11.6.2B Buffer Encroachment: The proposed use encroaches the wetland buffer in 7 places 
where structures are partially over the buffer. Totaling to an area of 1,365 S.F. 
11.6.2C Surface water Impacts: The proposed private drive has two wetland crossings. Each 
crossing is designed to keep the natural characteristics of the wetlands and is for access to the 
property.  
11.6.2D-E Surface Water Buffer: The proposed design has stormwater improvements within 
the buffer. These impacts to the buffer will not impact the wetlands and ensure the water 
quality of runoff is treated prior to flowing to the wetland resource. Erosion control measures 
are specified to protect the adjacent wetlands in the areas of encroachment.  The stormwater 
management and wetland impacts will require approval by the NHDES.  

 
 

52 of 81



53 of 81



54 of 81



55 of 81



56 of 81



57 of 81



58 of 81



59 of 81



60 of 81



61 of 81



62 of 81



63 of 81



HOUSE OPTION 1

64 of 81



HOUSE OPTION 2

65 of 81



HOUSE OPTION 3

66 of 81



67 of 81



68 of 81



69 of 81



MEMORANDUM

BETA GROUP, INC.
www.BETA-Inc.com

INTRODUCTION
BETA Group, Inc. (BETA) has prepared this Traffic Assessment to summarize the anticipated traffic impacts
associated with a proposed residential development to be located off Court Street in Keene, New
Hampshire. As proposed, 29 single-family homes will be constructed with access to be provided along the
east side of Court Street north of Evergreen Road. Court Street is legislatively categorized as Class IV:
Compact Road, functionally classified as a Minor Arterial, and is under City of Keene jurisdiction.
Therefore, review and approval are expected to be required with respect to traffic through the City of
Keene permitting process. In accordance with Article 21.9.1.A of the City of Keene’s Land Development
Code, a traffic study is required for a residential development with 10 or more dwelling units. This
evaluation has been conducted to summarize the anticipated traffic impacts associated with the proposed
residential development.

EXISTING CONDITIONS
Existing traffic volumes in the area were researched from historical data provided within New Hampshire
Department of Transportation’s (NHDOT’s) Transportation Data Management System (TDMS) database.
NHDOT conducts a three-year traffic count program along Court Street north of Evergreen Road.1 The
most recent traffic counts collected and uploaded to the NHDOT traffic-volume database for this location
were from June 2023 with the next counts planned for 2026. The NHDOT historical data are summarized
in Table 1 and are provided in the Appendix.

1 NHDOT TDMS, Court Street north of Evergreen Road, Keene. (Location ID: 82237081).

Date: April 11, 2025
To: John Noonan

Fieldstone Land Consultants, PLLC
45 Roxbury Street
Keene, NH 03431

From: Jason R. Plourde, PE, PTP

Subject: Traffic Assessment
Court Street Residential Development

70 of 81



John Noonan
April 11, 2025
Page 2 of 4

Table 1 – Existing Traffic Volume Summary

Location/Time Period
Daily Traffic

Volume (vpd) a

Peak Hour Traffic
Volume (vph) b K-Factor (percent) c

Court Street north of Evergreen Road
Weekday Daily 10,115 -- --
Weekday AM Peak Hour -- 837 8.3
Weekday PM Peak Hour -- 893 8.8
a In vehicles per day (highest counted values).
b In vehicles per hour (highest counted values).
c Percent of average daily traffic occurring during the peak hour.
d Traffic counts collected between Saturday, June 10, 2023, and Thursday, June 15, 2023 (Count Station
82237181).

The traffic volumes along Court Street north of Evergreen Road experienced the highest peak hour
demands between 8:00-9:00 AM and between 3:00-4:00 PM. Many rural and urban roadways experience
a K-factor that falls between 9.0 and 10.0 percent. The K-factor may exceed 10.0 percent for roadways
with heavy peak traffic demand.2 As shown in Table 1, the K-factors along Court Street are below the
typical range (9.0-10.0), which suggests that traffic volumes along the Court Street corridor may have a
relatively even distribution of traffic throughout the day or throughout a peak period that last more than
1 hour.

BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES
For purposes of this Traffic Assessment, the proposed development program evaluated consists of
constructing 29 single-family homes with a full access driveway constructed on Court Street.

TRIP GENERATION

To estimate the volume of traffic to be generated by the proposed project, Institute of Transportation
Engineers (ITE) trip rates were reviewed.3 Table 2 summarizes the ITE trip-generation estimates for the
proposed residential development. The trip-generation calculations are provided in the Appendix.

2 Dowling, Richard, et al. Planning and Preliminary Engineering Applications Guide to the Highway Capacity
Manual. National Cooperative Highway Research Program Report 825, Washington, DC: National
Academy of Sciences, 2016.
3 Institute of Transportation Engineers. Trip Generation Manual, 11th ed. Washington, DC, Sept. 2021.

71 of 81



John Noonan
April 11, 2025
Page 3 of 4

Table 2 – Trip-Generation Summary

Peak Hour/Direction Site Trips a

Weekday AM Peak Hour
Enter 6
Exit 18
Total 24
Weekday PM Peak Hour
Enter 20
Exit 11
Total 31
Saturday Midday Peak Hour
Enter 19
Exit 16
Total 35
a ITE Land Use Code 210: Single-Family Detached Housing for
29 dwelling units.

As shown, the proposed residential development is estimated to generate 24 vehicle trips (6 entering and
18 exiting) during the weekday AM peak hour, 31 vehicle trips (20 entering and 11 exiting) during the
weekday PM peak hour, and 35 vehicle trips (19 entering and 16 exiting) during the Saturday midday peak
hour.

In accordance with ITE methodologies4 and NHDOT general guidance,5 a development may result in a
noticeable change in vehicular operations if the addition of site trips would increase peak hour traffic
volumes at an intersection by 100 vehicles or more. Traffic increases less than this threshold could be
attributed to the fluctuation of vehicles due to driver patterns that occur during a day, on different days
of a week, or different months of a year. Based on standard traffic engineering practice and
methodologies, the proposed development is not projected to meet this threshold during the
weekday AM, weekday PM, and Saturday midday peak hours. Therefore, standard traffic engineering
practice suggests that the proposed development would not be expected to result in noticeable impacts
to the adjacent roadway system.

4 Institute of Transportation Engineers. Transportation Impact Analyses for Site Development: An ITE
Proposed Recommended Practice. Washington, DC. 2010.
5 Bollinger, Robert E. Inter-Department Communication. New Hampshire Department of Transportation,
Bureau of Traffic. 17 Feb. 2010.

72 of 81



John Noonan
April 11, 2025
Page 4 of 4

SITE TRIP IMPACTS

For planning purposes, the site trips were evenly distributed through the Court Street site driveway
intersection with 50 percent to/from the north and 50 percent to/from the south. Based on the trip-
generation and distribution estimates for the proposed residential development, the proposed
development would increase traffic volumes along Court Street north of the site in the range of 12 to
17 vehicles per hour (1 additional vehicle/3.5 to 5 minutes) and along Court Street south of the site in the
range of 12 to 18 vehicles per hour (1 additional vehicle/3.3 to 5 minutes). Accordingly, standard traffic
engineering practice suggests that the proposed residential development would be expected to result in
negligible impacts to the adjacent roadway system.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS
In summary, common traffic engineering practice suggests that the vehicular trips associated with the
proposed 29 single-family homes would have negligible impacts to the adjacent roadway system during
the weekday AM, weekday PM, and Saturday peak hours. The total site trips estimated for the proposed
development do not meet the ITE and NHDOT 100 vehicle per hour increase threshold for which
developments may have a noticeable impact.

Ref: Keene, NH - Court St Residenial\Traffic Assessment Court St Residential Keene, NH.docx

73 of 81



LSI Industries Inc. 10000 Alliance Rd. Cincinnati, OH 45242 • www.lsi-industries.com
(513) 372-3200 • ©2020 LSI Industries Inc. All Rights Reserved. Specifications subject to change without notice.

Page 1/3 Rev. 06/09/21 
SPEC.1054.A.0720

Catalog #: Project:

Date: Type:Prepared By:

RD
LSI Abolite® LED Standard Dome

FEATURES & SPECIFICATIONS

Construction
• Heavy gauge spun steel with a thermally 

cured high quality polyester powder coat 
finish.

• Integrated power supply built into the 
fixture allowing the RLM to be connected 
directly to line voltage.

• Manufactured in the USA

Optical System

• Available in 5000K, 4000K, 3500K, 3000K, 
and 2700K color temperatures

• Glass Globe required for outdoor applica-
tions

• Minimum CRI of 80

Electrical

• Standard Universal Voltage (120-277 Vac) 
Input 50/60Hz

• 0-10V dimming, 5% standard

• Operating Temperature -30°C to +50°C 
(-22°F to +122°F)

Installation 

• Pre-wired with 96” leads standard.

• Optional 10’ prewired cord set and canopy 
available in black and white

• Optional 10’ prewired cord set, aircraft wire, 
and canopy available in black and white

• Fixed hub tapped for 3/4” NPT conduit.

• Not designed for uplight applications.

Warranty

• LSI luminaires carry a 5-year limited 
warranty. Refer to https://www.lsicorp.com/
resources/terms-conditions-warranty/ for 
more information.

Listings

• UL Listed

• Suitable for wet locations

OVERVIEW

Lumen Range 1,250 - 1,700

CCT 27/30/35/40/50K

Wattage Range 9.3 - 12.8

QUICK LINKS

Ordering Guide Performance Dimensions

wet location

74 of 81



         LIT-E0066 • 08/23/22 • Page 1 of 5
Amerlux reserves the right to change details that do not affect overall function and performance.

Amerlux®, LLC • 178 Bauer Drive, Oakland, NJ 07436 • P: 973-882-5010  F: 973-882-2605 • amerlux.com

C
oa

ch
 S

ty
le

 L
an

te
rn

 - 
Po

st
 T

op
 (C

S
L-

P)

Product Overview
Wattage: 24W, 44W, 60W, 79W

Lumen Output : 9,374 lm (79W, T2, 4000K)

Color Temp:         3000K, 4000K

Dimming:         0-10V dimming

Luminaire Weight (approx.): 18 lbs (8.1 kg)

Shipping Weight (approx.): 24 lbs (10.8 kg)

COACH STYLE
LANTERN
Post Top Mount Features

The Coach Style Lantern - Post Top (CSL-P) luminaire is a classically 
styled post-top lantern that offers a choice of several optical systems.
Optional controls available.

PROJECT:           TYPE: 

55 Electrostatic sensitive device.
observe precautions for handling

Electrostatic sensitive device.
observe precautions for handling

Construction:
Die-cast aluminum housing ensures rigidity 
and longevity in application. The rooftop 
casting is hinged to the cage and utilizes 
tool-less hardware for ease of installation 
and maintenance.

Optical Module:
The luminaire utilizes up to four IP66 sealed 
optical modules consisting of a high perfor-
mance LED board with an acrylic (TIR) lens 
to deliver maximum spacing and uniformity. 
A choice of Type 2 (T2), Type 3 (T3), Type 
4 (T4), or Type 5 (T5), IES distributions 
are available with the scalability to meet 
application criteria. Custom configurations 
available.

Electrical:
• 12 LEDs per module
•  LED Board Drive Current 530mA (Custom 

drive currents available)
•  Universal input voltage 120-277 VAC 

(50/60Hz)
• Operational Temp: -40°C/40°C
• Power consumption up to 79W
•  Series wired 20kV/10kA surge protector 

(Per ANSI C82,77-5-2015)
• 0-10V dimming is standard
• A 347V/480V option is available
• DLC listed

Light Distribution:
• Type II (T2)
• Type III (T3)
• Type IV (T4)
• Type V (T5)

CCT:
• 3,000K (30)
• 4,000K (40)

Photo Control:
A 3-pin twistlock photocell receptacle is 
standard.
•  An optional rotatable7-pin (7P) twistlock 

photocell receptacle is available.
•  The 3-pin Twistlock photocell is an acces-

sory and must be specified (TW-PCL).

Mounting:
Slip fits Ø3" tenon 

Finish:
Durable thermoset polyester
powdercoat finish in the following:
• Textured Black (TBK)
• Classic Bronze (CLB)
• Gloss Textured Bronze (GBZ)
• Gloss Textured Black (GTB)

Optional Lens:
• Textured Acrylic (TA)

Accessories:
• Bird Guard (BG)
•   Backlight Shield (BLS)  

(available for T2, T3 & T4 distributions)
• Twistlock Photocell (TW-PCL)
•  Shorting Cap  (to bypass receptacle) (SC)
• Wireless control option

EPA: 1.61
(2.77 with optional lens)

19"

32"

3 ½"

3 ½"

7 3/32"

14 19/32"

6 13/32"

12 ½"

4 11/16"

Optional
Bird Cage

Slip fits Ø3" tenon
Certain 
Restrictions
Apply

75 of 81



���������	
�
�	
�����������
����	
����������	��	��	��������
������������������
��
��� ���!"##$�%��&�'�(��&)�""*"*(+,�-./	�0"&�12324543�6755�89:� 9$*��";�<�=>>�?$=$;�*;�'9$*��";<�=>>?$=$;�*;)�""*"*(+,�-.4�=��=@(A"*�;�B4�9CDE�AA�*$@=�$�*�F�E��*@$��#�%==;+G&>H�E��*@$��8@�$�*�F�8**�=��I"G�#�;�C�=#&;�=*&�E�AA$;;$�*;+G&>HJKLMNLO�PL�QKRSTU�PU�VRK�WNVX�YSLSOKZ[�\�]̂__̀ ab]cdb̂a�ecf�f̀g_bddhi�d̂�djh�kbdl�k̂ à]bm�gl�k̂ à]bm̂n�occf�nhp̀hfdbaq�djcd�kbdlĝcnif�cai�]̂__bffb̂af�rn̂sbih�ca�caàcm�nhr̂nd�̂t�djhbn�c]dbsbdbhf�d̂�djh�kbdl�k̂ à]bmu��\d�djhbn_hhdbaq�̂a�vcàcnl�wxdjy�djh�kbdl�k̂ à]bm�ŝdhi�d̂�nh]̂__hai�djcd�djbf�gh�ŝm̀adcnl�t̂n�ĝcnifu�zt�c�ĝcni�]ĵ f̂hf�d̂�rn̂sbih�ca�caàcm�nhr̂ndy�bd�ê m̀i�gh�̂a�c�tbf]cm�lhcn�gcfbf�cai�ê m̀i�ghf̀g_bddhi�̂a�̂n�cn̂ ài�v̀ml�wu��zt�c�ĝcni�ihdhn_bahf�djhl�ê m̀i�mb{h�d̂�rn̂sbih�c�nhr̂nd�d̂�djhkbdl�k̂ à]bmy�djbf�_cl�gh�îah�ba�enbdbaq�cai�ibfdnbg̀dhi�ba�k̂ à]bm�_cbmĝ|hf�gl�djh�}dctt~bcbf̂ay�̂n�c�ĝcni�_cl�cf{�d̂�gh�̂a�djh�cqhaic�̂t�̂ah�̂t�djh�k̂ à]bm�}dcaibaq�k̂ __bddhhf�d̂rn̂sbih�ca�̂ncm�̀ricdh�d̂�djh�kbdl�k̂ à]bmu��mhcfh�cii�djbf�d̂�ca�̀r]̂_baq�cqhaic�t̂n�hc]j�̂t�djh�ĝcnif�cai�]̂__bffb̂af�l̂ �̀rn̂sbihfdctt�f̀rr̂nd�d̂y�f̂�djhl�]ca�ihdhn_bah�ejhdjhn�djhl�ê m̀i�mb{h�d̂�rcndb]brcdh�gl�rn̂sbibaq�cacaàcm�nhr̂nd�̂̀ d�d̂�djh�kbdl�k̂ à]bmy�cai�ih]bih�djh�]̂adhad�cai�t̂n_cd�djhl�ê m̀i�rnhthn�t̂nrn̂sbibaq�f̀]j�c�nhr̂ndu��\qcbay�djbf�bf�ŝm̀adcnlu��jh�]̂__̀ ab]cdb̂a�tn̂_�k̂ à]bm̂n�occf�bfcddc]jhi�d̂�rn̂sbih�]̂adh|d�cf�d̂�jbf�nhp̀hfdy�cai�djh�k̂ à]bm�c]db̂a�bf�ba]m̀ihi�f̂�bd�]ca�ghfjcnhi�ebdj�l̂ ǹ�_h_ghnfjbru�

76 of 81



 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #D.6. 

 
     
Meeting Date: January 16, 2025 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Annual Reports of Boards and Commissions 
     
  
Council Action: 
In City Council January 16, 2025. 
Voted unanimously to carry out the intent of the report. 
  
Recommendation: 
On a 5-0 roll call vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the 
City Council request that City Boards and Commissions submit an annual report to the City Council 
on or about July 1st, 2025. 
  
Attachments: 
None 
  
Background: 
Councilor Haas stated he is before the committee on behalf of the volunteers who serve on of the 
various City Boards and Commissions. He felt these individuals don’t get the recognition and 
appreciation they deserve. He stated he would like to call for an annual report from these various 
Bodies, giving them a chance to bring forward their challenges, their goals, and how they can do a 
better job in advising the city. 
  
The Councilor also suggested deleting from the website those public bodies that don’t meet anymore, 
such as the Agriculture Commission. He asked to resurrect the City College Commission. He felt the 
same extends to Standing Committees. He felt this could be a one-page description of what they did 
and what they want to do. 
  
The Manager stated she likes the idea of requesting an annual report, but wasn’t sure it can be 
required based on different statutes. 
  
Councilor Lake felt it was a good idea to get periodic reports from the committees. He asked what the 
process for requesting these reports would look like. The City Manager suggested a motion be made 
that the Council requests annual reports from Boards and Commissions – staff can then pass that 
message along. 
  
Councilor Jones began by thanking Councilor Haas for recognizing the City College Commission 
which the Councilor stated he had served on. He stated during the tenure of Mayor Lane there was a 

77 of 81



process to obtain such reports from Board and Commissions. Further, it is a process that worked in 
the past and he felt it is something that could be accomplished by staff and the Mayor. 
  
The Manager stated she did speak with the City Clerk about this and added it was a process to 
request all Bodies to come before Council and that is not what staff is proposing here. What staff is 
proposing now is an annual report and if there is a committee that Council would like to hear from, 
they could be requested to attend a Council meeting. In addition, there could be a topic the Council is 
deciding on and would like input from a specific Board or Commission, staff could also coordinate 
that. 
  
Mayor Kahn addressed the committee and stated he wanted to assure the public that the City has on 
its website is information regarding all its Boards and Commissions. He indicated that 
recommendations that need to reach the Council are being conveyed to the Boards and 
Commissions. He felt that if staff could obtain this information in a less labor-intensive manner that 
would be prudent. He also suggested adding an expected date as well. With respect to the City 
College Commission, he noted there is a lot of dialogue that goes on between the City and the 
college. It is an important part of the City. He stated the City Manager and Mayor meet with college 
staff frequently and the college will be presenting their master plan to the Planning Board later this 
month. He stated there is continuing dialogue that happens with the college regarding housing, 
neighborhoods – there is Keene Police Officer working on neighborhood issues. 
  
The Mayor indicated if there is purpose, it will be brought back to the City Council because that 
charge was written in 2008; it is a dated charge and needs to be refreshed if there is going to be an 
ongoing effort. 
  
Councilor Chadbourne made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Lake. 
 
On a 5-0 roll call vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the 
City Council request that City Boards and Commissions submit an annual report to the City Council 
on or about July 1st, 2025. 
 

78 of 81



79 of 81



 

 

3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 

 

(603) 352-5440 
KeeneNH.gov 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Planning Board    
 
FROM:   Community Development Staff 
 
DATE:   April 18, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Agenda Item 7.c – Potential Modifications to the Site Plan Review 

Thresholds for Residential Projects 

 

Recommendation:  

To provide staff with guidance on the appropriate planning review thresholds for residential 
projects. 

Background: 

The Planning Board’s Site Plan Review Thresholds are detailed in Section 26.12.3, sub-section A 
of the Land Development Code. There are three levels of review: Major Site Plan (reviewed by the 
Planning Board), Minor Site Plan (reviewed by the Minor Project Review Committee), and 
Administrative Planning Review (reviewed by Community Development Director or their 
designee). The thresholds for Major and Minor Site Plan review are shown in the following table. 
Any proposal that does not meet the threshold for a Minor Site Plan would be reviewed 
administratively by staff, unless exempt from planning review altogether. 

At the March 24, 2025 Planning Board meeting, the Board discussed the possibility of creating 
thresholds for residential projects based on the number of new units proposed. Currently, any 
project that involves three or more units could require planning review, depending on the nature 
of the proposal.  

For example, a proposal to add an addition to a 2-unit residential building that would increase 
the size of the building by 15% or more would require Major Site Plan review, whereas an 
internal conversion of a large single or two-family dwelling into a three-family dwelling may only 
require administrative review. A conversion of commercial space to residential apartments may 
also only require administrative review based on the Board’s Site Plan Review thresholds, 
regardless of the number of units. An example of this is the change of use for the Colony Mill 
apartments on West Street, which were reviewed administratively by staff due to an overall 
decrease in site impacts. Staff are looking for guidance from the Board regarding the 
appropriate level of review for residential projects based on the number of dwelling units 
proposed. 

80 of 81



 

 

 

 

 

  

81 of 81


	2025_04_28_pb_agenda
	2025_03_24_PB_Minutes_ED Edits
	April_Final Approval Recommendations Memo
	Cedarcrest proposed inverter and equipment loca...
	Cedarcrest Solar_Follow up Letter_Rec. 03-25-25
	MVCG Interim Plan Memo April 2025
	COMM GARDEN-REV20250318
	Timberlane Woods Extension Request
	Guitard CCD_Mini Packet_AMENDED
	Applications_Received 3-21-2025
	Owner Authorization_Received 3-21-2025
	Narrative_REVISED_Rec. 04-14-25
	Plan Set_REVISED_Rec. 04-18-25_REDUCED
	Steep Slopes Exhibit_Rec. 04-18-25_REDUCED
	Renderings_REVISED_Rec. 04-14-25_REDUCED
	Stormwater Management Report_REVISED_Rec. 04-14-25
	Traffic Analysis_Rec. 04-14-25
	Dome Light Spec Sheet_Rec. 04-14-25
	Lantern Spec Sheet_Rec. 04-14-25

	Notice of Council Action_Annual Reports to the Council by Boards and Commissions
	Commnication from Terri about Councilor Request
	Council Action_Annual Reports of Boards and Committees
	6. Annual Reports of Boards and Commissions
	Cover Sheet


	Communication from Councilor Haas_Request for Annual Reports from Boards
	4. Councilor Ed Haas - Annual Reports of Boards and C
	Communication_Haas



	SPR Thresholds Memo

	Text Field 6: 
	Page 1: 

	Text Field 7: 
	Page 1: 

	Text Field 8: 
	Page 1: 

	Text Field 9: 
	Page 1: 

	Text Field 10: 
	Page 1: 

	Project: 
	Type: 


